# UNIFORM HEALTH CARRIER EXTERNAL REVIEW MODEL ACT

#### **Table of Contents**

Section 1.	Title
Section 2.	Purpose and Intent
Section 3.	Definitions
Section 4.	Applicability and Scope
Section 5.	Notice of Right to External Review
Section 6.	Request for External Review
Section 7.	Exhaustion of Internal Grievance Process
Section 8.	Standard External Review
Section 9.	Expedited External Review
Section 10.	External Review of Experimental or Investigational Treatment Adverse
	Determinations
Section 11.	Binding Nature of External Review Decision
Section 12.	Approval of Independent Review Organizations
Section 13.	Minimum Qualifications for Independent Review Organizations
Section 14.	Hold Harmless for Independent Review Organizations
Section 15.	External Review Reporting Requirements
Section 16.	Funding of External Review
Section 17.	Disclosure Requirements
Section 18.	Severability
Section 19.	Effective Date

#### Section 1. Title

This Act shall be known and may be cited as the Uniform Health Carrier External Review Act.

**Drafting Note:** In some States existing statutes may provide the commissioner with sufficient authority to promulgate the provisions of this Act as a regulation. States should review existing authority and determine whether to adopt this model as an act or adapt it to promulgate as a regulation.

# Section 2. Purpose and Intent

The purpose of this Act is to provide uniform standards for the establishment and maintenance of external review procedures to assure that covered persons have the opportunity for an independent review of an adverse determination or final adverse determination, as defined in this Act.

#### Section 3. Definitions

For purposes of this Act:

- A. "Adverse determination" means a determination by a health carrier or its designee utilization review organization that an admission, availability of care, continued stay or other health care service that is a covered benefit has been reviewed and, based upon the information provided, does not meet the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness, and the requested service or payment for the service is therefore denied, reduced or terminated.
- B. "Ambulatory review" means utilization review of health care services performed or provided in an outpatient setting.

- C. "Authorized representative" means:
  - (1) A person to whom a covered person has given express written consent to represent the covered person in an external review;
  - (2) A person authorized by law to provide substituted consent for a covered person; or
  - (3) A family member of the covered person or the covered person's treating health care professional only when the covered person is unable to provide consent.
- D. "Best evidence" means evidence based on:
  - (1) Randomized clinical trials;
  - (2) If randomized clinical trials are not available, cohort studies or case-control studies;
  - (3) If paragraphs (1) and (2) are not available, case-series; or
  - (4) If paragraphs (1), (2) and (3) are not available, expert opinion.
- E. "Case-control study" means a retrospective evaluation of two (2) groups of patients with different outcomes to determine which specific interventions the patients received.
- F. "Case management" means a coordinated set of activities conducted for individual patient management of serious, complicated, protracted or other health conditions.
- G. "Case-series" means an evaluation of a series of patients with a particular outcome, without the use of a control group.
- H. "Certification" means a determination by a health carrier or its designee utilization review organization that an admission, availability of care, continued stay or other health care service has been reviewed and, based on the information provided, satisfies the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care and effectiveness.
- I. "Clinical review criteria" means the written screening procedures, decision abstracts, clinical protocols and practice guidelines used by a health carrier to determine the necessity and appropriateness of health care services.
- J. "Cohort study" means a prospective evaluation of two (2) groups of patients with only one group of patients receiving a specific intervention(s).
- K. "Commissioner" means the Commissioner of Insurance.

**Drafting Note:** Use the title of the chief insurance regulatory official wherever the term "commissioner" appears. If the jurisdiction of certain health carriers, such as health maintenance organizations, lies with some State agency other than the insurance department, or if there is dual regulation, a State should add language referencing that agency to ensure the appropriate coordination of responsibilities.

L. "Concurrent review" means utilization review conducted during a patient's hospital stay or course of treatment.

- M. "Covered benefits" or "benefits" means those health care services to which a covered person is entitled under the terms of a health benefit plan.
- N. "Covered person" means a policyholder, subscriber, enrollee or other individual participating in a health benefit plan.
- O. "Discharge planning" means the formal process for determining, prior to discharge from a facility, the coordination and management of the care that a patient receives following discharge from a facility.
- P. "Disclose" means to release, transfer or otherwise divulge protected health information to any person other than the individual who is the subject of the protected health information.
- Q. "Emergency medical condition" means the sudden and, at the time, unexpected onset of a health condition or illness that requires immediate medical attention, where failure to provide medical attention would result in a serious impairment to bodily functions, serious dysfunction of a bodily organ or part, or would place the person's health in serious jeopardy.
- R. "Emergency services" means health care items and services furnished or required to evaluate and treat an emergency medical condition.
- S. "Evidence-based standard" means the conscientious, explicit and judicious use of the current best evidence based on the overall systematic review of the research in making decisions about the care of individual patients.
- T. "Expert opinion" means a belief or an interpretation by specialists with experience in a specific area about the scientific evidence pertaining to a particular service, intervention or therapy.
- U. "Facility" means an institution providing health care services or a health care setting, including but not limited to, hospitals and other licensed inpatient centers, ambulatory surgical or treatment centers, skilled nursing centers, residential treatment centers, diagnostic, laboratory and imaging centers, and rehabilitation and other therapeutic health settings.
- V. "Final adverse determination" means an adverse determination involving a covered benefit that has been upheld by a health carrier, or its designee utilization review organization, at the completion of the health carrier's internal grievance process procedures as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].

**Drafting Note:** States that do not require covered persons to exhaust a health carrier's internal grievance process procedures before filing a request for an external review should not adopt the definition of "final adverse determination" in subsection V and should not use the term in the rest of the law.

- W. "Health benefit plan" means a policy, contract, certificate or agreement offered or issued by a health carrier to provide, deliver, arrange for, pay for or reimburse any of the costs of health care services.
- X. "Health care professional" means a physician or other health care practitioner licensed, accredited or certified to perform specified health care services consistent with state law.

**Drafting Note:** States may wish to specify the licensed health professionals to whom this definition may apply (e.g., physicians, psychologists, nurse practitioners, etc.). This definition applies to individual health professionals, not corporate "persons."

- Y. "Health care provider" or "provider" means a health care professional or a facility.
- Z. "Health care services" means services for the diagnosis, prevention, treatment, cure or relief of a health condition, illness, injury or disease.
- AA. "Health carrier" means an entity subject to the insurance laws and regulations of this State, or subject to the jurisdiction of the commissioner, that contracts or offers to contract to provide, deliver, arrange for, pay for or reimburse any of the costs of health care services, including a sickness and accident insurance company, a health maintenance organization, a nonprofit hospital and health service corporation, or any other entity providing a plan of health insurance, health benefits or health care services.

**Drafting Note:** States that license health maintenance organizations pursuant to statutes other than the insurance statutes and regulations, such as the public health laws, will want to reference the applicable statutes instead of, or in addition to, the insurance laws and regulations.

- BB. "Health information" means information or data, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium, and personal facts or information about events or relationships that relates to:
  - (1) The past, present or future physical, mental, or behavioral health or condition of an individual or a member of the individual's family;
  - (2) The provision of health care services to an individual; or
  - (3) Payment for the provision of health care services to an individual.
- CC. "Independent review organization" means an entity that conducts independent external reviews of adverse determinations and final adverse determinations.
- DD. "Medical or scientific evidence" means evidence found in the following sources:
  - (1) Peer-reviewed scientific studies published in or accepted for publication by medical journals that meet nationally recognized requirements for scientific manuscripts and that submit most of their published articles for review by experts who are not part of the editorial staff;
  - (2) Peer-reviewed medical literature, including literature relating to therapies reviewed and approved by a qualified institutional review board, biomedical compendia and other medical literature that meet the criteria of the National Institutes of Health's Library of Medicine for indexing in Index Medicus (Medline) and Elsevier Science Ltd. for indexing in Excerpta Medicus (EMBASE);
  - (3) Medical journals recognized by the Secretary of Health and Human Services under Section 1861(t)(2) of the federal Social Security Act;
  - (4) The following standard reference compendia:

- (a) The American Hospital Formulary Service–Drug Information;
- (b) Drug Facts and Comparisons;
- (c) The American Dental Association Accepted Dental Therapeutics; and
- (d) The United States Pharmacopoeia–Drug Information;
- (5) Findings, studies or research conducted by or under the auspices of federal government agencies and nationally recognized federal research institutes, including:
  - (a) The federal Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality;
  - (b) The National Institutes of Health;
  - (c) The National Cancer Institute;
  - (d) The National Academy of Sciences;
  - (e) The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services;
  - (f) The federal Food and Drug Administration; and
  - (g) Any national board recognized by the National Institutes of Health for the purpose of evaluating the medical value of health care services; or
- (6) Any other medical or scientific evidence that is comparable to the sources listed in paragraphs (1) through (5).
- EE. "NAIC" means the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
- FF. "Person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint venture, a joint stock company, a trust, an unincorporated organization, any similar entity or any combination of the foregoing.
- GG. "Prospective review" means utilization review conducted prior to an admission or a course of treatment.
- HH. "Protected health information" means health information:
  - (1) That identifies an individual who is the subject of the information; or
  - (2) With respect to which there is a reasonable basis to believe that the information could be used to identify an individual.
- II. "Randomized clinical trial" means a controlled, prospective study of patients that have been randomized into an experimental group and a control group at the beginning of the study with only the experimental group of patients receiving a specific intervention, which includes study of the groups for variables and anticipated outcomes over time.

- JJ. "Retrospective review" means a review of medical necessity conducted after services have been provided to a patient, but does not include the review of a claim that is limited to an evaluation of reimbursement levels, veracity of documentation, accuracy of coding or adjudication for payment.
- KK. "Second opinion" means an opportunity or requirement to obtain a clinical evaluation by a provider other than the one originally making a recommendation for a proposed health care service to assess the clinical necessity and appropriateness of the initial proposed health care service.
- LL. "Utilization review" means a set of formal techniques designed to monitor the use of, or evaluate the clinical necessity, appropriateness, efficacy, or efficiency of, health care services, procedures, or settings. Techniques may include ambulatory review, prospective review, second opinion, certification, concurrent review, case management, discharge planning, or retrospective review.
- MM. "Utilization review organization" means an entity that conducts utilization review, other than a health carrier performing a review for its own health benefit plans.

#### Section 4. Applicability and Scope

- A. Except as provided in subsection B, this Act shall apply to all health carriers.
- B. The provisions of this Act shall not apply to a policy or certificate that provides coverage only for a specified disease, specified accident or accident-only coverage, credit, dental, disability income, hospital indemnity, long-term care insurance, as defined by [insert the reference to State law that defines long-term care insurance], vision care or any other limited supplemental benefit or to a Medicare supplement policy of insurance, as defined by the commissioner by regulation, coverage under a plan through Medicare, Medicaid, or the federal employees health benefits program, any coverage issued under Chapter 55 of Title 10, U.S. Code and any coverage issued as supplement to that coverage, any coverage issued as supplemental to liability insurance, workers' compensation or similar insurance, automobile medical-payment insurance or any insurance under which benefits are payable with or without regard to fault, whether written on a group blanket or individual basis.

# Section 5. Notice of Right to External Review

- A. (1) A health carrier shall notify the covered person in writing of the covered person's right to request an external review to be conducted pursuant to section 8, 9 or 10 of this Act and include the appropriate statements and information set forth in subsection B at the same time the health carrier sends written notice of:
  - (a) An adverse determination upon completion of the health carrier's utilization review process set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act]; and

**Drafting Note:** States that do not have a statutory utilization review process for health carriers similar to the NAIC Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act may want to alter the reference to that model in subparagraph (a) above to take this into account. In addition, States may wish to include in their utilization review or grievance laws the requirement that the health carrier give timely notice of the right to request expedited external review prior to the conclusion of the utilization review or grievance process.

- (b) A final adverse determination.
- As part of the written notice required under paragraph (1), a health carrier shall include the following, or substantially equivalent, language: "We have denied your request for the provision of or payment for a health care service or course of treatment. You may have the right to have our decision reviewed by health care professionals who have no association with us if our decision involved making a judgment as to the medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness of the health care service or treatment you requested by submitting a request for external review to the Office of the Insurance Commissioner [insert address and telephone number of the office of the insurance commissioner or other unit in the office that administers the external review program]."
- (3) The commissioner may prescribe by regulation the form and content of the notice required under this section.

Drafting Note: States are encouraged to use the model notice the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

- B. (1) The health carrier shall include in the notice required under subsection A:
  - (a) For a notice related to an adverse determination, a statement informing the covered person that:
    - (i) If the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an expedited external review to be conducted pursuant to section 9 of this Act, or section 10 of this Act if the adverse determination involves a denial of coverage based on a determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is experimental or investigational and the covered person's treating physician certifies in writing that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated, at the same time the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative files a request for an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act], but that the independent review organization assigned to conduct the expedited external review will determine whether the covered person shall be required to complete the expedited review of the grievance prior to conducting the expedited external review; and

- (ii) The covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a grievance under the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 7 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Actl, but if the health carrier has not issued a written decision to the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative within thirty (30) days following the date the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative files the grievance with the health carrier and the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative has not requested or agreed to a delay, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for external review pursuant to section 6 of this Act and shall be considered to have exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process for purposes of section 7 of this Act; and
- (b) For a notice related to a final adverse determination, a statement informing the covered person that:
  - (i) If the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of a standard external review pursuant to section 8 of this Act would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an expedited external review pursuant to section 9 of this Act; or
  - (ii) If the final adverse determination concerns:
    - (I) An admission, availability of care, continued stay or health care service for which the covered person received emergency services, but has not been discharged from a facility, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may request an expedited external review pursuant to section 9 of this Act; or
    - (II) A denial of coverage based on a determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is experimental or investigational, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for a standard external review to be conducted pursuant to section 10 of this Act or if the covered person's treating physician certifies in writing that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the request would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may request an expedited external review to be conducted under section 10 of this Act.

- (2) In addition to the information to be provided pursuant to paragraph (1), the health carrier shall include a copy of the description of both the standard and expedited external review procedures the health carrier is required to provide pursuant to section 17 of this Act, highlighting the provisions in the external review procedures that give the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative the opportunity to submit additional information and including any forms used to process an external review.
- (3) As part of any forms provided under paragraph (2), the health carrier shall include an authorization form, or other document approved by the commissioner that complies with the requirements of 45 CFR Section 164.508, by which the covered person, for purposes of conducting an external review under this Act, authorizes the health carrier and the covered person's treating health care provider to disclose protected health information, including medical records, concerning the covered person that are pertinent to the external review, as provided in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10H of the Health Information Privacy Model Act].

#### Section 6. Request for External Review

- A. (1) Except for a request for an expedited external review as set forth in section 9 of this Act, all requests for external review shall be made in writing to the commissioner.
  - (2) The commissioner may prescribe by regulation the form and content of external review requests required to be submitted under this section.

**Drafting Note:** States are encouraged to use the model external review request form the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

B. A covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may make a request for an external review of an adverse determination or final adverse determination.

# Section 7. Exhaustion of Internal Grievance Process

- A. (1) Except as provided in subsection B, a request for an external review pursuant to section 8, 9 or 10 of this Act shall not be made until the covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
  - (2) A covered person shall be considered to have exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process for purposes of this section, if the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative:
    - (a) Has filed a grievance involving an adverse determination pursuant to [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 7 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act]; and
    - (b) Except to the extent the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative requested or agreed to a delay, has not received a written decision on the grievance from the health carrier

within thirty (30) days following the date the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative filed the grievance with the health carrier.

- (3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may not make a request for an external review of an adverse determination involving a retrospective review determination made pursuant to [insert reference in State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act] until the covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process.
- B. (1) (a) At the same time a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative files a request for an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act], the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an expedited external review of the adverse determination:
  - (i) Under section 9 of this Act if the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of an expedited review of the grievance involving an adverse determination set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function; or
  - (ii) Under section 10 of this Act if the adverse determination involves a denial of coverage based on a determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is experimental or investigational and the covered person's treating physician certifies in writing that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated.
  - (b) Upon receipt of a request for an expedited external review under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the independent review organization conducting the external review in accordance with the provisions of section 9 or 10 of this Act shall determine whether the covered person shall be required to complete the expedited review process set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] before it conducts the expedited external review.
  - (c) Upon a determination made pursuant to subparagraph (b) of this paragraph that the covered person must first complete the expedited grievance review process set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act], the independent review organization immediately shall notify the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of this determination and that it will not

proceed with the expedited external review set forth in section 9 of this Act until completion of the expedited grievance review process and the covered person's grievance at the completion of the expedited grievance review process remains unresolved.

- (2) A request for an external review of an adverse determination may be made before the covered person has exhausted the heath carrier's internal grievance procedures as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 7 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] whenever the health carrier agrees to waive the exhaustion requirement.
- C. If the requirement to exhaust the health carrier's internal grievance procedures is waived under subsection B(2), the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request in writing for a standard external review as set forth in section 8 or 10 of this Act.

**Drafting Note:** States that do not require exhaustion of the internal grievance process prior to filing a request for external review should not adopt this section.

#### Section 8. Standard External Review

- A. (1) Within four (4) months after the date of receipt of a notice of an adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to section 5 of this Act, a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an external review with the commissioner.
  - (2) Within one (1) business day after the date of receipt of a request for external review pursuant to paragraph (1), the commissioner shall send a copy of the request to the health carrier.
- B. Within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the copy of the external review request from the commissioner under subsection A(2), the health carrier shall complete a preliminary review of the request to determine whether:
  - (1) The individual is or was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service was requested or, in the case of a retrospective review, was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service was provided;
  - (2) The health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or the final adverse determination is a covered service under the covered person's health benefit plan, but for a determination by the health carrier that the health care service is not covered because it does not meet the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness:
  - (3) The covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] unless the covered person is not required to exhaust the health carrier's internal grievance process pursuant to section 7 of this Act; and

- (4) The covered person has provided all the information and forms required to process an external review, including the release form provided under section 5B of this Act.
- C. (1) Within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review, the health carrier shall notify the commissioner and covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative in writing whether:
  - (a) The request is complete; and
  - (b) The request is eligible for external review.
  - (2) If the request:
    - (a) Is not complete, the health carrier shall inform the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative and the commissioner in writing and include in the notice what information or materials are needed to make the request complete; or
    - (b) Is not eligible for external review, the health carrier shall inform the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative and the commissioner in writing and include in the notice the reasons for its ineligibility.
  - (3) (a) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under this subsection and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
    - (b) The notice of initial determination shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that the external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
  - (4) (a) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under section 8B of this Act notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination that the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
    - (b) In making a determination under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
- D. (1) Whenever the commissioner receives a notice that a request is eligible for external review following the preliminary review conducted pursuant to subsection C, within one (1) business day after the date of receipt of the notice, the commissioner shall:
  - (a) Assign an independent review organization from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act to conduct the

- external review and notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization; and
- (b) Notify in writing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of the request's eligibility and acceptance for external review.
- (2) In reaching a decision, the assigned independent review organization is not bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the health carrier's utilization review process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review Model and Benefit Determination Act] or the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
- (3) The commissioner shall include in the notice provided to the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative a statement that the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may submit in writing to the assigned independent review organization within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1) additional information that the independent review organization shall consider when conducting the external review. The independent review organization is not required to, but may, accept and consider additional information submitted after five (5) business days.
- E. (1) Within five (5) business days after the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to section D(1), the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide to the assigned independent review organization the documents and any information considered in making the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
  - (2) Except as provided in paragraph (3), failure by the health carrier or its utilization review organization to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1) shall not delay the conduct of the external review.
  - (3) (a) If the health carrier or its utilization review organization fails to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1), the assigned independent review organization may terminate the external review and make a decision to reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
    - (b) Within one (1) business day after making the decision under subparagraph (a), the independent review organization shall notify the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the health carrier, and the commissioner.
- F. (1) The assigned independent review organization shall review all of the information and documents received pursuant to subsection E and any other information submitted in writing to the independent review organization by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(3).

- (2) Upon receipt of any information submitted by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(3), the assigned independent review organization shall within one (1) business day forward the information to the health carrier.
- G. (1) Upon receipt of the information, if any, required to be forwarded pursuant to subsection F(2), the health carrier may reconsider its adverse determination or final adverse determination that is the subject of the external review.
  - (2) Reconsideration by the health carrier of its adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to paragraph (1) shall not delay or terminate the external review.
  - (3) The external review may only be terminated if the health carrier decides, upon completion of its reconsideration, to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination and provide coverage or payment for the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
  - (4) (a) Within one (1) business day after making the decision to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination, as provided in paragraph (3), the health carrier shall notify the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the assigned independent review organization, and the commissioner in writing of its decision.
    - (b) The assigned independent review organization shall terminate the external review upon receipt of the notice from the health carrier sent pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this paragraph.
- H. In addition to the documents and information provided pursuant to subsection E, the assigned independent review organization, to the extent the information or documents are available and the independent review organization considers them appropriate, shall consider the following in reaching a decision:
  - (1) The covered person's medical records;
  - (2) The attending health care professional's recommendation:
  - (3) Consulting reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the health carrier, covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, or the covered person's treating provider;
  - (4) The terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier to ensure that the independent review organization's decision is not contrary to the terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier;
  - (5) The most appropriate practice guidelines, which shall include applicable evidence-based standards and may include any other practice guidelines developed by the federal government, national or professional medical societies, boards and associations;

- (6) Any applicable clinical review criteria developed and used by the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization; and
- (7) The opinion of the independent review organization's clinical reviewer or reviewers after considering paragraphs (1) through (6) to the extent the information or documents are available and the clinical reviewer or reviewers consider appropriate.
- I. (1) Within forty-five (45) days after the date of receipt of the request for an external review, the assigned independent review organization shall provide written notice of its decision to uphold or reverse the adverse determination or the final adverse determination to:
  - (a) The covered person;
  - (b) If applicable, the covered person's authorized representative;
  - (c) The health carrier; and
  - (d) The commissioner.
  - (2) The independent review organization shall include in the notice sent pursuant to paragraph (1):
    - (a) A general description of the reason for the request for external review;
    - (b) The date the independent review organization received the assignment from the commissioner to conduct the external review;
    - (c) The date the external review was conducted;
    - (d) The date of its decision;
    - (e) The principal reason or reasons for its decision, including what applicable, if any, evidence-based standards were a basis for its decision:
    - (f) The rationale for its decision; and
    - (g) References to the evidence or documentation, including the evidence-based standards, considered in reaching its decision.
  - (3) Upon receipt of a notice of a decision pursuant to paragraph (1) reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination, the health carrier immediately shall approve the coverage that was the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
- J. The assignment by the commissioner of an approved independent review organization to conduct an external review in accordance with this section shall be done on a random basis among those approved independent review organizations qualified to conduct the particular external review based on the nature of the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse

determination and other circumstances, including conflict of interest concerns pursuant to section 13D of this Act.

# Section 9. Expedited External Review

- A. Except as provided in subsection F, a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may make a request for an expedited external review with the commissioner at the time the covered person receives:
  - (1) An adverse determination if:
    - (a) The adverse determination involves a medical condition of the covered person for which the timeframe for completion of an expedited internal review of a grievance involving an adverse determination set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function; and
    - (b) The covered person or the covered person's authorized representative has filed a request for an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act]; or
  - (2) A final adverse determination:
    - (a) If the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of a standard external review pursuant to section 8 of this Act would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function; or
    - (b) If the final adverse determination concerns an admission, availability of care, continued stay or health care service for which the covered person received emergency services, but has not been discharged from a facility.
- B. (1) Upon receipt of a request for an expedited external review, the commissioner immediately shall send a copy of the request to the health carrier.
  - (2) Immediately upon receipt of the request pursuant to paragraph (1), the health carrier shall determine whether the request meets the reviewability requirements set forth in section 8B of this Act. The health carrier shall immediately notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of its eligibility determination.
  - (3) (a) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under this subsection and any supporting information to be included in the notice.

- (b) The notice of initial determination shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that an external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
- (4) (a) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under section 8B of this Act notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination that the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
  - (b) In making a determination under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
- (5) Upon receipt of the notice that the request meets the reviewability requirements, the commissioner immediately shall assign an independent review organization to conduct the expedited external review from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act. The commissioner shall immediately notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization.
- (6) In reaching a decision in accordance with subsection E, the assigned independent review organization is not bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the health carrier's utilization review process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act] or the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
- C. Upon receipt of the notice from the commissioner of the name of the independent review organization assigned to conduct the expedited external review pursuant to subsection B(5), the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide or transmit all necessary documents and information considered in making the adverse determination or final adverse determination to the assigned independent review organization electronically or by telephone or facsimile or any other available expeditious method.
- D. In addition to the documents and information provided or transmitted pursuant to subsection C, the assigned independent review organization, to the extent the information or documents are available and the independent review organization considers them appropriate, shall consider the following in reaching a decision:
  - (1) The covered person's pertinent medical records;
  - (2) The attending health care professional's recommendation;
  - (3) Consulting reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the health carrier, covered person, the covered person's authorized representative or the covered person's treating provider;

- (4) The terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier to ensure that the independent review organization's decision is not contrary to the terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier;
- (5) The most appropriate practice guidelines, which shall include evidence-based standards, and may include any other practice guidelines developed by the federal government, national or professional medical societies, boards and associations:
- (6) Any applicable clinical review criteria developed and used by the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization in making adverse determinations; and
- (7) The opinion of the independent review organization's clinical reviewer or reviewers after considering paragraphs (1) through (6) to the extent the information and documents are available and the clinical reviewer or reviewers consider appropriate.
- E. (1) As expeditiously as the covered person's medical condition or circumstances requires, but in no event more than seventy-two (72) hours after the date of receipt of the request for an expedited external review that meets the reviewability requirements set forth in section 8B of this Act, the assigned independent review organization shall:
  - (a) Make a decision to uphold or reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination; and
  - (b) Notify the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the health carrier, and the commissioner of the decision.
  - (2) If the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1) was not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date of providing that notice, the assigned independent review organization shall:
    - (a) Provide written confirmation of the decision to the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the health carrier, and the commissioner; and
    - (b) Include the information set forth in section 8I(2) of this Act.
  - (3) Upon receipt of the notice a decision pursuant to paragraph (1) reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination, the health carrier immediately shall approve the coverage that was the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
- F. An expedited external review may not be provided for retrospective adverse or final adverse determinations.
- G. The assignment by the commissioner of an approved independent review organization to conduct an external review in accordance with this section shall be done on a random basis among those approved independent review organizations

qualified to conduct the particular external review based on the nature of the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination and other circumstances, including conflict of interest concerns pursuant to section 13D of this Act.

# Section 10. External Review of Experimental or Investigational Treatment Adverse Determinations

- A. (1) Within four (4) months after the date of receipt of a notice of an adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to section 5 of this Act that involves a denial of coverage based on a determination that the health care service or treatment recommended or requested is experimental or investigational, a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for external review with the commissioner.
  - (2) (a) A covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may make an oral request for an expedited external review of the adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to paragraph (1) if the covered person's treating physician certifies, in writing, that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the request would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated.
    - (b) Upon receipt of a request for an expedited external review, the commissioner immediately shall notify the health carrier.
    - (c) Upon notice of the request for expedited external review, the health carrier immediately shall determine whether the request meets the reviewability requirements of subsection B. The health carrier shall immediately notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of its eligibility determination.
      - (ii) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under item (i) and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
      - (iii) The notice of initial determination under item (i) shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that the external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
    - (d) (i) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under subsection B(2) notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
      - (ii) In making a determination under item (i), the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.

- (e) Upon receipt of the notice that the expedited external review request meets the reviewability requirements of subsection B(2), the commissioner immediately shall assign an independent review organization to review the expedited request from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act and notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization.
- (f) At the time the health carrier receives the notice of the assigned independent review organization pursuant to subparagraph (e) of this paragraph, the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide or transmit all necessary documents and information considered in making the adverse determination or final adverse determination to the assigned independent review organization electronically or by telephone or facsimile or any other available expeditious method.
- B. (1) Except for a request for an expedited external review made pursuant to subsection A(2), within one (1) business day after the date of receipt of the request, the commissioner receives a request for an external review, the commissioner shall notify the health carrier.
  - (2) Within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the notice sent pursuant to paragraph (1), the health carrier shall conduct and complete a preliminary review of the request to determine whether:
    - (a) The individual is or was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service or treatment was recommended or requested or, in the case of a retrospective review, was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service or treatment was provided;
    - (b) The recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination:
      - (i) Is a covered benefit under the covered person's health benefit plan except for the health carrier's determination that the service or treatment is experimental or investigational for a particular medical condition; and
      - (ii) Is not explicitly listed as an excluded benefit under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier;
    - (c) The covered person's treating physician has certified that one of the following situations is applicable:
      - (i) Standard health care services or treatments have not been effective in improving the condition of the covered person;
      - (ii) Standard health care services or treatments are not medically appropriate for the covered person; or

- (iii) There is no available standard health care service or treatment covered by the health carrier that is more beneficial than the recommended or requested health care service or treatment described in subparagraph (d) of this paragraph;
- (d) The covered person's treating physician:
  - (i) Has recommended a health care service or treatment that the physician certifies, in writing, is likely to be more beneficial to the covered person, in the physician's opinion, than any available standard health care services or treatments; or
  - (ii) Who is a licensed, board certified or board eligible physician qualified to practice in the area of medicine appropriate to treat the covered person's condition, has certified in writing that scientifically valid studies using accepted protocols demonstrate that the health care service or treatment requested by the covered person that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination is likely to be more beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care services or treatments:
- (e) The covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] unless the covered person is not required to exhaust the health carrier's internal grievance process pursuant to section 7 of this Act; and
- (f) The covered person has provided all the information and forms required by the commissioner that are necessary to process an external review, including the release form provided under section 5B of this Act.
- C. (1) Within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review, the health carrier shall notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative in writing whether:
  - (a) The request is complete; and
  - (b) The request is eligible for external review.
  - (2) If the request:
    - (a) Is not complete, the health carrier shall inform in writing the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative and include in the notice what information or materials are needed to make the request complete; or
    - (b) Is not eligible for external review, the health carrier shall inform the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, if

- applicable, and the commissioner in writing and include in the notice the reasons for its ineligibility.
- (3) (a) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under paragraph (2) and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
  - (b) The notice of initial determination provided under paragraph (2) shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that the external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
- (4) (a) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under subsection B(2) notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination that the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
  - (b) In making a determination under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
- (5) Whenever a request for external review is determined eligible for external review, the health carrier shall notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative.
- D. (1) Within one (1) business day after the receipt of the notice from the health carrier that the external review request is eligible for external review pursuant to subsection A(2)(d) or subsection C(5), the commissioner shall:
  - (a) Assign an independent review organization to conduct the external review from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act and notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization; and
  - (b) Notify in writing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of the request's eligibility and acceptance for external review.
  - (2) The commissioner shall include in the notice provided to the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative a statement that the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may submit in writing to the assigned independent review organization within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1) additional information that the independent review organization shall consider when conducting the external review. The independent review organization is not required to, but may, accept and consider additional information submitted after five (5) business days.

- (3) Within one (1) business day after the receipt of the notice of assignment to conduct the external review pursuant to paragraph (1), the assigned independent review organization shall:
  - (a) Select one or more clinical reviewers, as it determines is appropriate, pursuant to paragraph (4) to conduct the external review; and
  - (b) Based on the opinion of the clinical reviewer, or opinions if more than one clinical reviewer has been selected to conduct the external review, make a decision to uphold or reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
- (4) (a) In selecting clinical reviewers pursuant to paragraph (3)(a), the assigned independent review organization shall select physicians or other health care professionals who meet the minimum qualifications described in section 13 of this Act and, through clinical experience in the past three (3) years, are experts in the treatment of the covered person's condition and knowledgeable about the recommended or requested health care service or treatment.
  - (b) Neither the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, if applicable, nor the health carrier shall choose or control the choice of the physicians or other health care professionals to be selected to conduct the external review.
- (5) In accordance with subsection H, each clinical reviewer shall provide a written opinion to the assigned independent review organization on whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered.
- (6) In reaching an opinion, clinical reviewers are not bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the health carrier's utilization review process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act] or the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
- E. (1) Within five (5) business days after the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to subsection D(1), the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide to the assigned independent review organization, the documents and any information considered in making the adverse determination or the final adverse determination.
  - (2) Except as provided in paragraph (3), failure by the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1) shall not delay the conduct of the external review.
  - (3) (a) If the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization has failed to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1), the assigned independent review organization may terminate the external review and make a decision to reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination.

- (b) Immediately upon making the decision under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the independent review organization shall notify the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, if applicable, the health carrier, and the commissioner.
- F. (1) Each clinical reviewer selected pursuant to subsection D shall review all of the information and documents received pursuant to subsection E and any other information submitted in writing by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(2).
  - (2) Upon receipt of any information submitted by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(2), within one (1) business day after the receipt of the information, the assigned independent review organization shall forward the information to the health carrier.
- G. (1) Upon receipt of the information required to be forwarded pursuant to subsection F(2), the health carrier may reconsider its adverse determination or final adverse determination that is the subject of the external review.
  - (2) Reconsideration by the health carrier of its adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to paragraph (1) shall not delay or terminate the external review.
  - (3) The external review may terminated only if the health carrier decides, upon completion of its reconsideration, to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination and provide coverage or payment for the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
  - (4) (a) Immediately upon making the decision to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination, as provided in paragraph (3), the health carrier shall notify the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative if applicable, the assigned independent review organization, and the commissioner in writing of its decision.
    - (b) The assigned independent review organization shall terminate the external review upon receipt of the notice from the health carrier sent pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this paragraph.
- H. (1) Except as provided in paragraph (3), within twenty (20) days after being selected in accordance with subsection D to conduct the external review, each clinical reviewer shall provide an opinion to the assigned independent review organization pursuant to subsection I on whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered.
  - (2) Except for an opinion provided pursuant to paragraph (3), each clinical reviewer's opinion shall be in writing and include the following information:
    - (a) A description of the covered person's medical condition;

- (b) A description of the indicators relevant to determining whether there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is more likely than not to be beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care services or treatments and the adverse risks of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment would not be substantially increased over those of available standard health care services or treatments;
- (c) A description and analysis of any medical or scientific evidence, as that term is defined in section 3DD of this Act, considered in reaching the opinion:
- (d) A description and analysis of any evidence-based standard, as that term is defined in section 3S of this Act; and
- (e) Information on whether the reviewer's rationale for the opinion is based on subsection I(5)(a) or (b).
- (3) (a) For an expedited external review, each clinical reviewer shall provide an opinion orally or in writing to the assigned independent review organization as expeditiously as the covered person's medical condition or circumstances requires, but in no event more than five (5) calendar days after being selected in accordance with subsection D.
  - (b) If the opinion provided pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this paragraph was not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours following the date the opinion was provided, the clinical reviewer shall provide written confirmation of the opinion to the assigned independent review organization and include the information required under paragraph (2).
- I. In addition to the documents and information provided pursuant to subsection A(2) or subsection E, each clinical reviewer selected pursuant to subsection D, to the extent the information or documents are available and the reviewer considers appropriate, shall consider the following in reaching an opinion pursuant to subsection H:
  - (1) The covered person's pertinent medical records;
  - (2) The attending physician or health care professional's recommendation;
  - (3) Consulting reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the health carrier, covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, or the covered person's treating physician or health care professional;
  - (4) The terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier to ensure that, but for the health carrier's determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the opinion is experimental or investigational, the reviewer's

opinion is not contrary to the terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier; and

## (5) Whether:

- (a) The recommended or requested health care service or treatment has been approved by the federal Food and Drug Administration, if applicable, for the condition; or
- (b) Medical or scientific evidence or evidence-based standards demonstrate that the expected benefits of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is more likely than not to be beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care service or treatment and the adverse risks of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment would not be substantially increased over those of available standard health care services or treatments.
- J. (1) (a) Except as provided in subparagraph (b) of this paragraph, within twenty (20) days after the date it receives the opinion of each clinical reviewer pursuant to subsection I, the assigned independent review organization, in accordance with paragraph (2), shall make a decision and provide written notice of the decision to:
  - (i) The covered person;
  - (ii) If applicable, the covered person's authorized representative;
  - (iii) The health carrier; and
  - (iv) The commissioner.
  - (b) (i) For an expedited external review, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date it receives the opinion of each clinical reviewer pursuant to subsection I, the assigned independent review organization, in accordance with paragraph (2), shall make a decision and provide notice of the decision orally or in writing to the persons listed in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph.
    - (ii) If the notice provided under item (i) was not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date of providing that notice, the assigned independent review organization shall provide written confirmation of the decision to the persons listed in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph and include the information set forth in paragraph (3).
  - (2) (a) If a majority of the clinical reviewers recommend that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered, the independent review organization shall make a decision to reverse the health carrier's adverse determination or final adverse determination.

- (b) If a majority of the clinical reviewers recommend that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should not be covered, the independent review organization shall make a decision to uphold the health carrier's adverse determination or final adverse determination.
- (c) (i) If the clinical reviewers are evenly split as to whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered, the independent review organization shall obtain the opinion of an additional clinical reviewer in order for the independent review organization to make a decision based on the opinions of a majority of the clinical reviewers pursuant to subparagraph (a) or (b) of this paragraph.
  - (ii) The additional clinical reviewer selected under item (i) shall use the same information to reach an opinion as the clinical reviewers who have already submitted their opinions pursuant to subsection I.
  - (iii) The selection of the additional clinical reviewer under this subparagraph shall not extend the time within which the assigned independent review organization is required to make a decision based on the opinions of the clinical reviewers selected under subsection D pursuant to paragraph (1).
- (3) The independent review organization shall include in the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1):
  - (a) A general description of the reason for the request for external review;
  - (b) The written opinion of each clinical reviewer, including the recommendation of each clinical reviewer as to whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered and the rationale for the reviewer's recommendation:
  - (c) The date the independent review organization was assigned by the commissioner to conduct the external review;
  - (d) The date the external review was conducted;
  - (e) The date of its decision;
  - (f) The principal reason or reasons for its decision; and
  - (g) The rationale for its decision.
- (4) Upon receipt of a notice of a decision pursuant to paragraph (1) reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination, the health carrier immediately shall approve coverage of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that was the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.

L. The assignment by the commissioner of an approved independent review organization to conduct an external review in accordance with this section shall be done on a random basis among those approved independent review organizations qualified to conduct the particular external review based on the nature of the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination and other circumstances, including conflict of interest concerns pursuant to section 13D of this Act.

### Section 11. Binding Nature of External Review Decision

- A. An external review decision is binding on the health carrier except to the extent the health carrier has other remedies available under applicable State law.
- B. An external review decision is binding on the covered person except to the extent the covered person has other remedies available under applicable federal or State law.
- C. A covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may not file a subsequent request for external review involving the same adverse determination or final adverse determination for which the covered person has already received an external review decision pursuant to this Act.

# Section 12. Approval of Independent Review Organizations

- A. The commissioner shall approve independent review organizations eligible to be assigned to conduct external reviews under this Act.
- B. In order to be eligible for approval by the commissioner under this section to conduct external reviews under this Act an independent review organization:
  - (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, shall be accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity that the commissioner has determined has independent review organization accreditation standards that are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications for independent review organizations established under section 13 of this Act; and
  - (2) Shall submit an application for approval in accordance with subsection D.
- C. The commissioner shall develop an application form for initially approving and for reapproving independent review organizations to conduct external reviews.
- D. (1) Any independent review organization wishing to be approved to conduct external reviews under this Act shall submit the application form and include with the form all documentation and information necessary for the commissioner to determine if the independent review organization satisfies the minimum qualifications established under section 13 of this Act.
  - (2) (a) Subject to subparagraph (b) of this paragraph, an independent review organization is eligible for approval under this section only if it is accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity that the commissioner has determined has independent review organization accreditation standards that are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications for independent review organizations under section 13 of this Act.

- (b) The commissioner may approve independent review organizations that are not accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity if there are no acceptable nationally recognized private accrediting entities providing independent review organization accreditation.
- (3) The commissioner may charge an application fee that independent review organizations shall submit to the commissioner with an application for approval and re-approval.
- E. (1) An approval is effective for two (2) years, unless the commissioner determines before its expiration that the independent review organization is not satisfying the minimum qualifications established under section 13 of this Act.
  - (2) Whenever the commissioner determines that an independent review organization has lost its accreditation or no longer satisfies the minimum requirements established under section 13 of this Act, the commissioner shall terminate the approval of the independent review organization and remove the independent review organization from the list of independent review organizations approved to conduct external reviews under this Act that is maintained by the commissioner pursuant to subsection F.
- F. The commissioner shall maintain and periodically update a list of approved independent review organizations.
- G. The commissioner may promulgate regulations to carry out the provisions of this section.

# Section 13. Minimum Qualifications for Independent Review Organizations

- A. To be approved under section 12 of this Act to conduct external reviews, an independent review organization shall have and maintain written policies and procedures that govern all aspects of both the standard external review process and the expedited external review process set forth in this Act that include, at a minimum:
  - (1) A quality assurance mechanism in place that:
    - (a) Ensures that external reviews are conducted within the specified time frames and required notices are provided in a timely manner;
    - (b) Ensures the selection of qualified and impartial clinical reviewers to conduct external reviews on behalf of the independent review organization and suitable matching of reviewers to specific cases and that the independent review organization employs or contracts with an adequate number of clinical reviewers to meet this objective;
    - (c) Ensures the confidentiality of medical and treatment records and clinical review criteria; and

- (d) Ensures that any person employed by or under contract with the independent review organization adheres to the requirements of this Act:
- (2) A toll-free telephone service to receive information on a 24-hour-day, 7-day-aweek basis related to external reviews that is capable of accepting, recording or providing appropriate instruction to incoming telephone callers during other than normal business hours; and
- (3) Agree to maintain and provide to the commissioner the information set out in section 15 of this Act.
- B. All clinical reviewers assigned by an independent review organization to conduct external reviews shall be physicians or other appropriate health care providers who meet the following minimum qualifications:
  - (1) Be an expert in the treatment of the covered person's medical condition that is the subject of the external review;
  - (2) Be knowledgeable about the recommended health care service or treatment through recent or current actual clinical experience treating patients with the same or similar medical condition of the covered person;
  - (3) Hold a non-restricted license in a State of the United States and, for physicians, a current certification by a recognized American medical specialty board in the area or areas appropriate to the subject of the external review; and
  - (4) Have no history of disciplinary actions or sanctions, including loss of staff privileges or participation restrictions, that have been taken or are pending by any hospital, governmental agency or unit, or regulatory body that raise a substantial question as to the clinical reviewer's physical, mental or professional competence or moral character.
- C. In addition to the requirements set forth in subsection A, an independent review organization may not own or control, be a subsidiary of or in any way be owned or controlled by, or exercise control with a health benefit plan, a national, State or local trade association of health benefit plans, or a national, State or local trade association of health care providers.
- D. (1) In addition to the requirements set forth in subsections A, B and C, to be approved pursuant to section 12 of this Act to conduct an external review of a specified case, neither the independent review organization selected to conduct the external review nor any clinical reviewer assigned by the independent organization to conduct the external review may have a material professional, familial or financial conflict of interest with any of the following:
  - (a) The health carrier that is the subject of the external review;
  - (b) The covered person whose treatment is the subject of the external review or the covered person's authorized representative;

- (c) Any officer, director or management employee of the health carrier that is the subject of the external review:
- (d) The health care provider, the health care provider's medical group or independent practice association recommending the health care service or treatment that is the subject of the external review;
- (e) The facility at which the recommended health care service or treatment would be provided; or
- (f) The developer or manufacturer of the principal drug, device, procedure or other therapy being recommended for the covered person whose treatment is the subject of the external review.
- (2) In determining whether an independent review organization or a clinical reviewer of the independent review organization has a material professional, familial or financial conflict of interest for purposes of paragraph (1), the commissioner shall take into consideration situations where the independent review organization to be assigned to conduct an external review of a specified case or a clinical reviewer to be assigned by the independent review organization to conduct an external review of a specified case may have an apparent professional, familial or financial relationship or connection with a person described in paragraph (1), but that the characteristics of that relationship or connection are such that they are not a material professional, familial or financial conflict of interest that results in the disapproval of the independent review organization or the clinical reviewer from conducting the external review.

Drafting Note: In applying subsection D, States should be aware that conflict of interest questions involving independent review organizations and clinical reviewers might arise in a variety of situations. For example, conflict of interest questions may arise when a health care provider, including a physician or other health care professional, who is a clinical reviewer for an independent review organization or an academic medical center, or other similar medical research center, which is seeking to be an approved independent review organization, has a contract to provide health care services to enrollees of the health carrier that is the subject of an external review or when a health care provider, including a physician or other health care professional, who is a clinical reviewer for an independent review organization, has staff privileges at the facility where the recommended health care service or treatment would be provided if the health carrier's adverse or final adverse determination is reversed. The question for States to consider is whether a relationship or connection with persons involved in an external review is a material conflict of interest such that the objectivity of the independent review organization to be assigned to conduct the external review or any clinical reviewer to be assigned by the independent review organization to conduct the external review may actually be or may perceived to be negatively impacted. Whether the relationship or connection is a material conflict of interest will depend on the characteristics of each State's market. Therefore, States should consider adding provisions to this section that provide additional guidelines or procedures to address this issue given their local market characteristics.

- E. (1) An independent review organization that is accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity that has independent review accreditation standards that the commissioner has determined are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications of this section shall be presumed in compliance with this section to be eligible for approval under section 12 of this Act.
  - (2) The commissioner shall initially review and periodically review the independent review organization accreditation standards of a nationally recognized private accrediting entity to determine whether the entity's standards are, and continue to be, equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications established under this section. The commissioner may accept a

review conducted by the NAIC for the purpose of the determination under this paragraph.

- (3) Upon request, a nationally recognized private accrediting entity shall make its current independent review organization accreditation standards available to the commissioner or the NAIC in order for the commissioner to determine if the entity's standards are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications established under this section. The commissioner may exclude any private accrediting entity that is not reviewed by the NAIC.
- F. An independent review organization shall be unbiased. An independent review organization shall establish and maintain written procedures to ensure that it is unbiased in addition to any other procedures required under this section.

## Section 14. Hold Harmless for Independent Review Organizations

No independent review organization or clinical reviewer working on behalf of an independent review organization or an employee, agent or contractor of an independent review organization shall be liable in damages to any person for any opinions rendered or acts or omissions performed within the scope of the organization's or person's duties under the law during or upon completion of an external review conducted pursuant to this Act, unless the opinion was rendered or act or omission performed in bad faith or involved gross negligence.

# Section 15. External Review Reporting Requirements

- A. (1) An independent review organization assigned pursuant to section 8, section 9 or section 10 of this Act to conduct an external review shall maintain written records in the aggregate by State and by health carrier on all requests for external review for which it conducted an external review during a calendar year and, upon request, submit a report to the commissioner, as required under paragraph (2).
  - (2) Each independent review organization required to maintain written records on all requests for external review pursuant to paragraph (1) for which it was assigned to conduct an external review shall submit to the commissioner, upon request, a report in the format specified by the commissioner.
  - (3) The report shall include in the aggregate by State, and for each health carrier:
    - (a) The total number of requests for external review;
    - (b) The number of requests for external review resolved and, of those resolved, the number resolved upholding the adverse determination or final adverse determination and the number resolved reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination;
    - (c) The average length of time for resolution;
    - (d) A summary of the types of coverages or cases for which an external review was sought, as provided in the format required by the commissioner;

- (e) The number of external reviews pursuant to section 8G of this Act that were terminated as the result of a reconsideration by the health carrier of its adverse determination or final adverse determination after the receipt of additional information from the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative; and
- (f) Any other information the commissioner may request or require.
- (4) The independent review organization shall retain the written records required pursuant to this subsection for at least three (3) years.
- B. (1) Each health carrier shall maintain written records in the aggregate, by State and for each type of health benefit plan offered by the health carrier on all requests for external review that the health carrier receives notice of from the commissioner pursuant to this Act.
  - (2) Each health carrier required to maintain written records on all requests for external review pursuant to paragraph (1) shall submit to the commissioner, upon request, a report in the format specified by the commissioner.

**Drafting Note:** States are encouraged to use the model report format form the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

- (3) The report shall include in the aggregate, by State, and by type of health benefit plan:
  - (a) The total number of requests for external review;
  - (b) From the total number of requests for external review reported under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the number of requests determined eligible for a full external review; and
  - (c) Any other information the commissioner may request or require.
- (4) The health carrier shall retain the written records required pursuant to this subsection for at least three (3) years.

#### Section 16. Funding of External Review

The health carrier against which a request for a standard external review or an expedited external review is filed shall pay the cost of the independent review organization for conducting the external review.

#### Section 17. Disclosure Requirements

- A. (1) Each health carrier shall include a description of the external review procedures in or attached to the policy, certificate, membership booklet, outline of coverage or other evidence of coverage it provides to covered persons.
  - (2) The disclosure required by paragraph (1) shall be in a format prescribed by the commissioner.

**Drafting Note:** States are encouraged to use the model disclosure form the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

- B. The description required under subsection A shall include a statement that informs the covered person of the right of the covered person to file a request for an external review of an adverse determination or final adverse determination with the commissioner. The statement may explain that external review is available when the adverse determination or final adverse determination involves an issue of medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness. The statement shall include the telephone number and address of the commissioner.
- C. In addition to subsection B, the statement shall inform the covered person that, when filing a request for an external review, the covered person will be required to authorize the release of any medical records of the covered person that may be required to be reviewed for the purpose of reaching a decision on the external review.

#### Section 18. Severability

If any provision of this Act, or the application of the provision to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, the remainder of the Act, and the application of the provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected.

#### Section 19. Effective Date

This Act shall be effective [insert date].

Chronological Summary of Action (all references are to the <u>Proceedings of the NAIC</u>).

Chronological Summary of Action (all references are to the <u>Froceedings of the NATC</u>)

2008 Proc.  $2^{nd}$  Quarter 3-22 to 3-53(adopted).

2010 Proc. 1st Quarter (adopted Guideline amendments)

# UNIFORM HEALTH CARRIER EXTERNAL REVIEW MODEL ACT

The NAIC amended this model during the 2010 Spring National Meeting. These amendments were adopted as guidelines under the NAIC's model laws process. The 2010 1st Quarter Guideline Amendments are highlighted in grey.

#### **Table of Contents**

Section 1.	Title
Section 2.	Purpose and Intent
Section 3.	Definitions
Section 4.	Applicability and Scope
Section 5.	Notice of Right to External Review
Section 6.	Request for External Review
Section 7.	Exhaustion of Internal Grievance Process
Section 8.	Standard External Review
Section 9.	Expedited External Review
Section 10.	External Review of Experimental or Investigational Treatment Adverse
	Determinations
Section 11.	Binding Nature of External Review Decision
Section 12.	Approval of Independent Review Organizations
Section 13.	Minimum Qualifications for Independent Review Organizations
Section 14.	Hold Harmless for Independent Review Organizations
Section 15.	External Review Reporting Requirements
Section 16.	Funding of External Review
Section 17.	Disclosure Requirements
Section 18.	Severability
Section 19.	Effective Date
Appendix A.	Model Notice of Appeal Rights
Appendix B.	Model External Review Request Form
Appendix C.	Model Independent Review Organization External Review Annual Report Form
Appendix D.	Model Health Carrier External Review Annual Report Form

# Section 1. Title

This Act shall be known and may be cited as the Uniform Health Carrier External Review Act.

**Drafting Note:** In some States existing statutes may provide the commissioner with sufficient authority to promulgate the provisions of this Act as a regulation. States should review existing authority and determine whether to adopt this model as an act or adapt it to promulgate as a regulation.

# Section 2. Purpose and Intent

The purpose of this Act is to provide uniform standards for the establishment and maintenance of external review procedures to assure that covered persons have the opportunity for an independent review of an adverse determination or final adverse determination, as defined in this Act.

#### Section 3. Definitions

#### For purposes of this Act:

- A. "Adverse determination" means a determination by a health carrier or its designee utilization review organization that an admission, availability of care, continued stay or other health care service that is a covered benefit has been reviewed and, based upon the information provided, does not meet the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness, and the requested service or payment for the service is therefore denied, reduced or terminated.
- B. "Ambulatory review" means utilization review of health care services performed or provided in an outpatient setting.
- C. "Authorized representative" means:
  - (1) A person to whom a covered person has given express written consent to represent the covered person in an external review;
  - (2) A person authorized by law to provide substituted consent for a covered person; or
  - (3) A family member of the covered person or the covered person's treating health care professional only when the covered person is unable to provide consent.
- D. "Best evidence" means evidence based on:
  - (1) Randomized clinical trials;
  - (2) If randomized clinical trials are not available, cohort studies or case-control studies;
  - (3) If paragraphs (1) and (2) are not available, case-series; or
  - (4) If paragraphs (1), (2) and (3) are not available, expert opinion.
- E. "Case-control study" means a retrospective evaluation of two (2) groups of patients with different outcomes to determine which specific interventions the patients received.
- F. "Case management" means a coordinated set of activities conducted for individual patient management of serious, complicated, protracted or other health conditions.
- G. "Case-series" means an evaluation of a series of patients with a particular outcome, without the use of a control group.

- H. "Certification" means a determination by a health carrier or its designee utilization review organization that an admission, availability of care, continued stay or other health care service has been reviewed and, based on the information provided, satisfies the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care and effectiveness.
- I. "Clinical review criteria" means the written screening procedures, decision abstracts, clinical protocols and practice guidelines used by a health carrier to determine the necessity and appropriateness of health care services.
- J. "Cohort study" means a prospective evaluation of two (2) groups of patients with only one group of patients receiving a specific intervention(s).
- K. "Commissioner" means the Commissioner of Insurance.

**Drafting Note:** Use the title of the chief insurance regulatory official wherever the term "commissioner" appears. If the jurisdiction of certain health carriers, such as health maintenance organizations, lies with some State agency other than the insurance department, or if there is dual regulation, a State should add language referencing that agency to ensure the appropriate coordination of responsibilities.

- L. "Concurrent review" means utilization review conducted during a patient's hospital stay or course of treatment.
- M. "Covered benefits" or "benefits" means those health care services to which a covered person is entitled under the terms of a health benefit plan.
- N. "Covered person" means a policyholder, subscriber, enrollee or other individual participating in a health benefit plan.
- O. "Discharge planning" means the formal process for determining, prior to discharge from a facility, the coordination and management of the care that a patient receives following discharge from a facility.
- P. "Disclose" means to release, transfer or otherwise divulge protected health information to any person other than the individual who is the subject of the protected health information.
- Q. "Emergency medical condition" means the sudden and, at the time, unexpected onset of a health condition or illness that requires immediate medical attention, where failure to provide medical attention would result in a serious impairment to bodily functions, serious dysfunction of a bodily organ or part, or would place the person's health in serious jeopardy.
- R. "Emergency services" means health care items and services furnished or required to evaluate and treat an emergency medical condition.
- S. "Evidence-based standard" means the conscientious, explicit and judicious use of the current best evidence based on the overall systematic review of the research in making decisions about the care of individual patients.
- T. "Expert opinion" means a belief or an interpretation by specialists with experience in a specific area about the scientific evidence pertaining to a particular service, intervention or therapy.

- U. "Facility" means an institution providing health care services or a health care setting, including but not limited to, hospitals and other licensed inpatient centers, ambulatory surgical or treatment centers, skilled nursing centers, residential treatment centers, diagnostic, laboratory and imaging centers, and rehabilitation and other therapeutic health settings.
- V. "Final adverse determination" means an adverse determination involving a covered benefit that has been upheld by a health carrier, or its designee utilization review organization, at the completion of the health carrier's internal grievance process procedures as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].

**Drafting Note:** States that do not require covered persons to exhaust a health carrier's internal grievance process procedures before filing a request for an external review should not adopt the definition of "final adverse determination" in subsection V and should not use the term in the rest of the law.

- W. "Health benefit plan" means a policy, contract, certificate or agreement offered or issued by a health carrier to provide, deliver, arrange for, pay for or reimburse any of the costs of health care services.
- X. "Health care professional" means a physician or other health care practitioner licensed, accredited or certified to perform specified health care services consistent with state law.

**Drafting Note:** States may wish to specify the licensed health professionals to whom this definition may apply (e.g., physicians, psychologists, nurse practitioners, etc.). This definition applies to individual health professionals, not corporate "persons."

- Y. "Health care provider" or "provider" means a health care professional or a facility.
- Z. "Health care services" means services for the diagnosis, prevention, treatment, cure or relief of a health condition, illness, injury or disease.
- AA. "Health carrier" means an entity subject to the insurance laws and regulations of this State, or subject to the jurisdiction of the commissioner, that contracts or offers to contract to provide, deliver, arrange for, pay for or reimburse any of the costs of health care services, including a sickness and accident insurance company, a health maintenance organization, a nonprofit hospital and health service corporation, or any other entity providing a plan of health insurance, health benefits or health care services.

**Drafting Note:** States that license health maintenance organizations pursuant to statutes other than the insurance statutes and regulations, such as the public health laws, will want to reference the applicable statutes instead of, or in addition to, the insurance laws and regulations.

- BB. "Health information" means information or data, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium, and personal facts or information about events or relationships that relates to:
  - (1) The past, present or future physical, mental, or behavioral health or condition of an individual or a member of the individual's family;
  - (2) The provision of health care services to an individual; or
  - (3) Payment for the provision of health care services to an individual.

- CC. "Independent review organization" means an entity that conducts independent external reviews of adverse determinations and final adverse determinations.
- DD. "Medical or scientific evidence" means evidence found in the following sources:
  - (1) Peer-reviewed scientific studies published in or accepted for publication by medical journals that meet nationally recognized requirements for scientific manuscripts and that submit most of their published articles for review by experts who are not part of the editorial staff;
  - (2) Peer-reviewed medical literature, including literature relating to therapies reviewed and approved by a qualified institutional review board, biomedical compendia and other medical literature that meet the criteria of the National Institutes of Health's Library of Medicine for indexing in Index Medicus (Medline) and Elsevier Science Ltd. for indexing in Excerpta Medicus (EMBASE);
  - (3) Medical journals recognized by the Secretary of Health and Human Services under Section 1861(t)(2) of the federal Social Security Act;
  - (4) The following standard reference compendia:
    - (a) The American Hospital Formulary Service—Drug Information;
    - (b) Drug Facts and Comparisons;
    - (c) The American Dental Association Accepted Dental Therapeutics; and
    - (d) The United States Pharmacopoeia–Drug Information;
  - (5) Findings, studies or research conducted by or under the auspices of federal government agencies and nationally recognized federal research institutes, including:
    - (a) The federal Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality;
    - (b) The National Institutes of Health;
    - (c) The National Cancer Institute:
    - (d) The National Academy of Sciences;
    - (e) The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services;
    - (f) The federal Food and Drug Administration; and
    - (g) Any national board recognized by the National Institutes of Health for the purpose of evaluating the medical value of health care services; or
  - (6) Any other medical or scientific evidence that is comparable to the sources listed in paragraphs (1) through (5).

- EE. "NAIC" means the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
- FF. "Person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint venture, a joint stock company, a trust, an unincorporated organization, any similar entity or any combination of the foregoing.
- GG. "Prospective review" means utilization review conducted prior to an admission or a course of treatment.
- HH. "Protected health information" means health information:
  - (1) That identifies an individual who is the subject of the information; or
  - (2) With respect to which there is a reasonable basis to believe that the information could be used to identify an individual.
- II. "Randomized clinical trial" means a controlled, prospective study of patients that have been randomized into an experimental group and a control group at the beginning of the study with only the experimental group of patients receiving a specific intervention, which includes study of the groups for variables and anticipated outcomes over time.
- JJ. "Retrospective review" means a review of medical necessity conducted after services have been provided to a patient, but does not include the review of a claim that is limited to an evaluation of reimbursement levels, veracity of documentation, accuracy of coding or adjudication for payment.
- KK. "Second opinion" means an opportunity or requirement to obtain a clinical evaluation by a provider other than the one originally making a recommendation for a proposed health care service to assess the clinical necessity and appropriateness of the initial proposed health care service.
- LL. "Utilization review" means a set of formal techniques designed to monitor the use of, or evaluate the clinical necessity, appropriateness, efficacy, or efficiency of, health care services, procedures, or settings. Techniques may include ambulatory review, prospective review, second opinion, certification, concurrent review, case management, discharge planning, or retrospective review.
- MM. "Utilization review organization" means an entity that conducts utilization review, other than a health carrier performing a review for its own health benefit plans.

#### Section 4. Applicability and Scope

- A. Except as provided in subsection B, this Act shall apply to all health carriers.
- B. The provisions of this Act shall not apply to a policy or certificate that provides coverage only for a specified disease, specified accident or accident-only coverage, credit, dental, disability income, hospital indemnity, long-term care insurance, as defined by [insert the reference to State law that defines long-term care insurance], vision care or any other limited supplemental benefit or to a Medicare supplement policy of insurance, as defined by the commissioner by regulation, coverage under a plan through Medicare, Medicaid, or the federal employees health benefits program,

any coverage issued under Chapter 55 of Title 10, U.S. Code and any coverage issued as supplement to that coverage, any coverage issued as supplemental to liability insurance, workers' compensation or similar insurance, automobile medical-payment insurance or any insurance under which benefits are payable with or without regard to fault, whether written on a group blanket or individual basis.

#### Section 5. Notice of Right to External Review

- A. (1) A health carrier shall notify the covered person in writing of the covered person's right to request an external review to be conducted pursuant to section 8, 9 or 10 of this Act and include the appropriate statements and information set forth in subsection B at the same time the health carrier sends written notice of:
  - (a) An adverse determination upon completion of the health carrier's utilization review process set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act]; and

**Drafting Note:** States that do not have a statutory utilization review process for health carriers similar to the NAIC Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act may want to alter the reference to that model in subparagraph (a) above to take this into account. In addition, States may wish to include in their utilization review or grievance laws the requirement that the health carrier give timely notice of the right to request expedited external review prior to the conclusion of the utilization review or grievance process.

- (b) A final adverse determination.
- As part of the written notice required under paragraph (1), a health carrier shall include the following, or substantially equivalent, language: "We have denied your request for the provision of or payment for a health care service or course of treatment. You may have the right to have our decision reviewed by health care professionals who have no association with us if our decision involved making a judgment as to the medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness of the health care service or treatment you requested by submitting a request for external review to the Office of the Insurance Commissioner [insert address and telephone number of the office of the insurance commissioner or other unit in the office that administers the external review program]."
- (3) The commissioner may prescribe by regulation the form and content of the notice required under this section.

Drafting Note: States are encouraged to use the model notice the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

- B. (1) The health carrier shall include in the notice required under subsection A:
  - (a) For a notice related to an adverse determination, a statement informing the covered person that:
    - (i) If the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] would

seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an expedited external review to be conducted pursuant to section 9 of this Act, or section 10 of this Act if the adverse determination involves a denial of coverage based on a determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is experimental or investigational and the covered person's treating physician certifies in writing that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated, at the same time the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative files a request for an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Actl, but that the independent review organization assigned to conduct the expedited external review will determine whether the covered person shall be required to complete the expedited review of the grievance prior to conducting the expedited external review; and

- (ii) The covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a grievance under the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 7 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act, but if the health carrier has not issued a written decision to the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative within thirty (30) days following the date the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative files the grievance with the health carrier and the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative has not requested or agreed to a delay, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for external review pursuant to section 6 of this Act and shall be considered to have exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process for purposes of section 7 of this Act; and
- (b) For a notice related to a final adverse determination, a statement informing the covered person that:
  - (i) If the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of a standard external review pursuant to section 8 of this Act would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an expedited external review pursuant to section 9 of this Act; or

- (ii) If the final adverse determination concerns:
  - (I) An admission, availability of care, continued stay or health care service for which the covered person received emergency services, but has not been discharged from a facility, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may request an expedited external review pursuant to section 9 of this Act; or
  - (II) A denial of coverage based on a determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is experimental or investigational, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for a standard external review to be conducted pursuant to section 10 of this Act or if the covered person's treating physician certifies in writing that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the request would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated, the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may request an expedited external review to be conducted under section 10 of this Act.
- (2) In addition to the information to be provided pursuant to paragraph (1), the health carrier shall include a copy of the description of both the standard and expedited external review procedures the health carrier is required to provide pursuant to section 17 of this Act, highlighting the provisions in the external review procedures that give the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative the opportunity to submit additional information and including any forms used to process an external review.
- (3) As part of any forms provided under paragraph (2), the health carrier shall include an authorization form, or other document approved by the commissioner that complies with the requirements of 45 CFR Section 164.508, by which the covered person, for purposes of conducting an external review under this Act, authorizes the health carrier and the covered person's treating health care provider to disclose protected health information, including medical records, concerning the covered person that are pertinent to the external review, as provided in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10H of the Health Information Privacy Model Act].

## Section 6. Request for External Review

- A. (1) Except for a request for an expedited external review as set forth in section 9 of this Act, all requests for external review shall be made in writing to the commissioner.
  - (2) The commissioner may prescribe by regulation the form and content of external review requests required to be submitted under this section.

**Drafting Note:** States are encouraged to use the model external review request form the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

B. A covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may make a request for an external review of an adverse determination or final adverse determination.

#### Section 7. Exhaustion of Internal Grievance Process

- A. (1) Except as provided in subsection B, a request for an external review pursuant to section 8, 9 or 10 of this Act shall not be made until the covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
  - (2) A covered person shall be considered to have exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process for purposes of this section, if the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative:
    - (a) Has filed a grievance involving an adverse determination pursuant to [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 7 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act]; and
    - (b) Except to the extent the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative requested or agreed to a delay, has not received a written decision on the grievance from the health carrier within thirty (30) days following the date the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative filed the grievance with the health carrier.
  - (3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may not make a request for an external review of an adverse determination involving a retrospective review determination made pursuant to [insert reference in State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act] until the covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process.
- B. (1) (a) At the same time a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative files a request for an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act], the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an expedited external review of the adverse determination:
  - (i) Under section 9 of this Act if the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of an expedited review of the grievance involving an adverse determination set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function; or

- (ii) Under section 10 of this Act if the adverse determination involves a denial of coverage based on a determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is experimental or investigational and the covered person's treating physician certifies in writing that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated.
- (b) Upon receipt of a request for an expedited external review under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the independent review organization conducting the external review in accordance with the provisions of section 9 or 10 of this Act shall determine whether the covered person shall be required to complete the expedited review process set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] before it conducts the expedited external review.
- (c) Upon a determination made pursuant to subparagraph (b) of this paragraph that the covered person must first complete the expedited grievance review process set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act], the independent review organization immediately shall notify the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of this determination and that it will not proceed with the expedited external review set forth in section 9 of this Act until completion of the expedited grievance review process and the covered person's grievance at the completion of the expedited grievance review process remains unresolved.
- (2) A request for an external review of an adverse determination may be made before the covered person has exhausted the heath carrier's internal grievance procedures as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to section 7 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] whenever the health carrier agrees to waive the exhaustion requirement.
- C. If the requirement to exhaust the health carrier's internal grievance procedures is waived under subsection B(2), the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request in writing for a standard external review as set forth in section 8 or 10 of this Act.

**Drafting Note:** States that do not require exhaustion of the internal grievance process prior to filing a request for external review should not adopt this section.

#### Section 8. Standard External Review

A. (1) Within four (4) months after the date of receipt of a notice of an adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to section 5 of this Act, a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for an external review with the commissioner.

- (2) Within one (1) business day after the date of receipt of a request for external review pursuant to paragraph (1), the commissioner shall send a copy of the request to the health carrier.
- B. Within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the copy of the external review request from the commissioner under subsection A(2), the health carrier shall complete a preliminary review of the request to determine whether:
  - (1) The individual is or was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service was requested or, in the case of a retrospective review, was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service was provided;
  - (2) The health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or the final adverse determination is a covered service under the covered person's health benefit plan, but for a determination by the health carrier that the health care service is not covered because it does not meet the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness:
  - (3) The covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] unless the covered person is not required to exhaust the health carrier's internal grievance process pursuant to section 7 of this Act; and
  - (4) The covered person has provided all the information and forms required to process an external review, including the release form provided under section 5B of this Act.
- C. (1) Within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review, the health carrier shall notify the commissioner and covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative in writing whether:
  - (a) The request is complete; and
  - (b) The request is eligible for external review.
  - (2) If the request:
    - (a) Is not complete, the health carrier shall inform the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative and the commissioner in writing and include in the notice what information or materials are needed to make the request complete; or
    - (b) Is not eligible for external review, the health carrier shall inform the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative and the commissioner in writing and include in the notice the reasons for its ineligibility.

- (3) (a) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under this subsection and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
  - (b) The notice of initial determination shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that the external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
- (4) (a) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under section 8B of this Act notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination that the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
  - (b) In making a determination under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
- D. (1) Whenever the commissioner receives a notice that a request is eligible for external review following the preliminary review conducted pursuant to subsection C, within one (1) business day after the date of receipt of the notice, the commissioner shall:
  - (a) Assign an independent review organization from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act to conduct the external review and notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization; and
  - (b) Notify in writing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of the request's eligibility and acceptance for external review.
  - (2) In reaching a decision, the assigned independent review organization is not bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the health carrier's utilization review process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review Model and Benefit Determination Act] or the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
  - (3) The commissioner shall include in the notice provided to the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative a statement that the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may submit in writing to the assigned independent review organization within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1) additional information that the independent review organization shall consider when conducting the external review. The independent review organization is not required to, but may, accept and consider additional information submitted after five (5) business days.

- E. (1) Within five (5) business days after the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to section D(1), the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide to the assigned independent review organization the documents and any information considered in making the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
  - (2) Except as provided in paragraph (3), failure by the health carrier or its utilization review organization to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1) shall not delay the conduct of the external review.
  - (3) (a) If the health carrier or its utilization review organization fails to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1), the assigned independent review organization may terminate the external review and make a decision to reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
    - (b) Within one (1) business day after making the decision under subparagraph (a), the independent review organization shall notify the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the health carrier, and the commissioner.
- F. (1) The assigned independent review organization shall review all of the information and documents received pursuant to subsection E and any other information submitted in writing to the independent review organization by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(3).
  - (2) Upon receipt of any information submitted by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(3), the assigned independent review organization shall within one (1) business day forward the information to the health carrier.
- G. (1) Upon receipt of the information, if any, required to be forwarded pursuant to subsection F(2), the health carrier may reconsider its adverse determination or final adverse determination that is the subject of the external review.
  - (2) Reconsideration by the health carrier of its adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to paragraph (1) shall not delay or terminate the external review.
  - (3) The external review may only be terminated if the health carrier decides, upon completion of its reconsideration, to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination and provide coverage or payment for the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
  - (4) (a) Within one (1) business day after making the decision to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination, as provided in paragraph (3), the health carrier shall notify the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the

- assigned independent review organization, and the commissioner in writing of its decision.
- (b) The assigned independent review organization shall terminate the external review upon receipt of the notice from the health carrier sent pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this paragraph.
- H. In addition to the documents and information provided pursuant to subsection E, the assigned independent review organization, to the extent the information or documents are available and the independent review organization considers them appropriate, shall consider the following in reaching a decision:
  - (1) The covered person's medical records;
  - (2) The attending health care professional's recommendation;
  - (3) Consulting reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the health carrier, covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, or the covered person's treating provider;
  - (4) The terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier to ensure that the independent review organization's decision is not contrary to the terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier;
  - (5) The most appropriate practice guidelines, which shall include applicable evidence-based standards and may include any other practice guidelines developed by the federal government, national or professional medical societies, boards and associations;
  - (6) Any applicable clinical review criteria developed and used by the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization; and
  - (7) The opinion of the independent review organization's clinical reviewer or reviewers after considering paragraphs (1) through (6) to the extent the information or documents are available and the clinical reviewer or reviewers consider appropriate.
- I. (1) Within forty-five (45) days after the date of receipt of the request for an external review, the assigned independent review organization shall provide written notice of its decision to uphold or reverse the adverse determination or the final adverse determination to:
  - (a) The covered person;
  - (b) If applicable, the covered person's authorized representative;
  - (c) The health carrier; and
  - (d) The commissioner.
  - (2) The independent review organization shall include in the notice sent pursuant to paragraph (1):

- (a) A general description of the reason for the request for external review;
- (b) The date the independent review organization received the assignment from the commissioner to conduct the external review;
- (c) The date the external review was conducted;
- (d) The date of its decision;
- (e) The principal reason or reasons for its decision, including what applicable, if any, evidence-based standards were a basis for its decision:
- (f) The rationale for its decision; and
- (g) References to the evidence or documentation, including the evidence-based standards, considered in reaching its decision.
- (3) Upon receipt of a notice of a decision pursuant to paragraph (1) reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination, the health carrier immediately shall approve the coverage that was the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
- J. The assignment by the commissioner of an approved independent review organization to conduct an external review in accordance with this section shall be done on a random basis among those approved independent review organizations qualified to conduct the particular external review based on the nature of the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination and other circumstances, including conflict of interest concerns pursuant to section 13D of this Act.

## Section 9. Expedited External Review

- A. Except as provided in subsection F, a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may make a request for an expedited external review with the commissioner at the time the covered person receives:
  - (1) An adverse determination if:
    - (a) The adverse determination involves a medical condition of the covered person for which the timeframe for completion of an expedited internal review of a grievance involving an adverse determination set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function; and

- (b) The covered person or the covered person's authorized representative has filed a request for an expedited review of a grievance involving an adverse determination as set forth in [insert reference in State law equivalent to section 10 of the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act]; or
- (2) A final adverse determination:
  - (a) If the covered person has a medical condition where the timeframe for completion of a standard external review pursuant to section 8 of this Act would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function; or
  - (b) If the final adverse determination concerns an admission, availability of care, continued stay or health care service for which the covered person received emergency services, but has not been discharged from a facility.
- B. (1) Upon receipt of a request for an expedited external review, the commissioner immediately shall send a copy of the request to the health carrier.
  - (2) Immediately upon receipt of the request pursuant to paragraph (1), the health carrier shall determine whether the request meets the reviewability requirements set forth in section 8B of this Act. The health carrier shall immediately notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of its eligibility determination.
  - (3) (a) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under this subsection and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
    - (b) The notice of initial determination shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that an external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
  - (4) (a) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under section 8B of this Act notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination that the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
    - (b) In making a determination under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
  - (5) Upon receipt of the notice that the request meets the reviewability requirements, the commissioner immediately shall assign an independent review organization to conduct the expedited external review from the list of

- approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act. The commissioner shall immediately notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization.
- (6) In reaching a decision in accordance with subsection E, the assigned independent review organization is not bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the health carrier's utilization review process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act] or the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
- C. Upon receipt of the notice from the commissioner of the name of the independent review organization assigned to conduct the expedited external review pursuant to subsection B(5), the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide or transmit all necessary documents and information considered in making the adverse determination or final adverse determination to the assigned independent review organization electronically or by telephone or facsimile or any other available expeditious method.
- D. In addition to the documents and information provided or transmitted pursuant to subsection C, the assigned independent review organization, to the extent the information or documents are available and the independent review organization considers them appropriate, shall consider the following in reaching a decision:
  - (1) The covered person's pertinent medical records;
  - (2) The attending health care professional's recommendation;
  - (3) Consulting reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the health carrier, covered person, the covered person's authorized representative or the covered person's treating provider;
  - (4) The terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier to ensure that the independent review organization's decision is not contrary to the terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier;
  - (5) The most appropriate practice guidelines, which shall include evidence-based standards, and may include any other practice guidelines developed by the federal government, national or professional medical societies, boards and associations;
  - (6) Any applicable clinical review criteria developed and used by the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization in making adverse determinations; and
  - (7) The opinion of the independent review organization's clinical reviewer or reviewers after considering paragraphs (1) through (6) to the extent the information and documents are available and the clinical reviewer or reviewers consider appropriate.

- E. (1) As expeditiously as the covered person's medical condition or circumstances requires, but in no event more than seventy-two (72) hours after the date of receipt of the request for an expedited external review that meets the reviewability requirements set forth in section 8B of this Act, the assigned independent review organization shall:
  - (a) Make a decision to uphold or reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination; and
  - (b) Notify the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the health carrier, and the commissioner of the decision.
  - (2) If the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1) was not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date of providing that notice, the assigned independent review organization shall:
    - (a) Provide written confirmation of the decision to the covered person, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative, the health carrier, and the commissioner; and
    - (b) Include the information set forth in section 8I(2) of this Act.
  - (3) Upon receipt of the notice a decision pursuant to paragraph (1) reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination, the health carrier immediately shall approve the coverage that was the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
- F. An expedited external review may not be provided for retrospective adverse or final adverse determinations.
- G. The assignment by the commissioner of an approved independent review organization to conduct an external review in accordance with this section shall be done on a random basis among those approved independent review organizations qualified to conduct the particular external review based on the nature of the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination and other circumstances, including conflict of interest concerns pursuant to section 13D of this Act.

# Section 10. External Review of Experimental or Investigational Treatment Adverse Determinations

- A. (1) Within four (4) months after the date of receipt of a notice of an adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to section 5 of this Act that involves a denial of coverage based on a determination that the health care service or treatment recommended or requested is experimental or investigational, a covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may file a request for external review with the commissioner.
  - (2) (a) A covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may make an oral request for an expedited external review of the adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to

paragraph (1) if the covered person's treating physician certifies, in writing, that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the request would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated.

- (b) Upon receipt of a request for an expedited external review, the commissioner immediately shall notify the health carrier.
- (c) Upon notice of the request for expedited external review, the health carrier immediately shall determine whether the request meets the reviewability requirements of subsection B. The health carrier shall immediately notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of its eligibility determination.
  - (ii) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under item (i) and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
  - (iii) The notice of initial determination under item (i) shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that the external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.
- (d) (i) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under subsection B(2) notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
  - (ii) In making a determination under item (i), the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
- (e) Upon receipt of the notice that the expedited external review request meets the reviewability requirements of subsection B(2), the commissioner immediately shall assign an independent review organization to review the expedited request from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act and notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization.
- (f) At the time the health carrier receives the notice of the assigned independent review organization pursuant to subparagraph (e) of this paragraph, the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide or transmit all necessary documents and information considered in making the adverse determination or final adverse determination to the assigned independent review organization electronically or by telephone or facsimile or any other available expeditious method.

- B. (1) Except for a request for an expedited external review made pursuant to subsection A(2), within one (1) business day after the date of receipt of the request, the commissioner receives a request for an external review, the commissioner shall notify the health carrier.
  - (2) Within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the notice sent pursuant to paragraph (1), the health carrier shall conduct and complete a preliminary review of the request to determine whether:
    - (a) The individual is or was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service or treatment was recommended or requested or, in the case of a retrospective review, was a covered person in the health benefit plan at the time the health care service or treatment was provided;
    - (b) The recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination:
      - (i) Is a covered benefit under the covered person's health benefit plan except for the health carrier's determination that the service or treatment is experimental or investigational for a particular medical condition; and
      - (ii) Is not explicitly listed as an excluded benefit under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier;
    - (c) The covered person's treating physician has certified that one of the following situations is applicable:
      - (i) Standard health care services or treatments have not been effective in improving the condition of the covered person;
      - (ii) Standard health care services or treatments are not medically appropriate for the covered person; or
      - (iii) There is no available standard health care service or treatment covered by the health carrier that is more beneficial than the recommended or requested health care service or treatment described in subparagraph (d) of this paragraph;
    - (d) The covered person's treating physician:
      - (i) Has recommended a health care service or treatment that the physician certifies, in writing, is likely to be more beneficial to the covered person, in the physician's opinion, than any available standard health care services or treatments; or
      - (ii) Who is a licensed, board certified or board eligible physician qualified to practice in the area of medicine appropriate to treat the covered person's condition, has certified in writing

that scientifically valid studies using accepted protocols demonstrate that the health care service or treatment requested by the covered person that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination is likely to be more beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care services or treatments;

- (e) The covered person has exhausted the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act] unless the covered person is not required to exhaust the health carrier's internal grievance process pursuant to section 7 of this Act; and
- (f) The covered person has provided all the information and forms required by the commissioner that are necessary to process an external review, including the release form provided under section 5B of this Act.
- C. (1) Within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review, the health carrier shall notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative in writing whether:
  - (a) The request is complete; and
  - (b) The request is eligible for external review.
  - (2) If the request:
    - (a) Is not complete, the health carrier shall inform in writing the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative and include in the notice what information or materials are needed to make the request complete; or
    - (b) Is not eligible for external review, the health carrier shall inform the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, if applicable, and the commissioner in writing and include in the notice the reasons for its ineligibility.
  - (3) (a) The commissioner may specify the form for the health carrier's notice of initial determination under paragraph (2) and any supporting information to be included in the notice.
    - (b) The notice of initial determination provided under paragraph (2) shall include a statement informing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative that a health carrier's initial determination that the external review request is ineligible for review may be appealed to the commissioner.

- (4) (a) The commissioner may determine that a request is eligible for external review under subsection B(2) notwithstanding a health carrier's initial determination that the request is ineligible and require that it be referred for external review.
  - (b) In making a determination under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the commissioner's decision shall be made in accordance with the terms of the covered person's health benefit plan and shall be subject to all applicable provisions of this Act.
- (5) Whenever a request for external review is determined eligible for external review, the health carrier shall notify the commissioner and the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative.
- D. (1) Within one (1) business day after the receipt of the notice from the health carrier that the external review request is eligible for external review pursuant to subsection A(2)(d) or subsection C(5), the commissioner shall:
  - (a) Assign an independent review organization to conduct the external review from the list of approved independent review organizations compiled and maintained by the commissioner pursuant to section 12 of this Act and notify the health carrier of the name of the assigned independent review organization; and
  - (b) Notify in writing the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative of the request's eligibility and acceptance for external review.
  - (2) The commissioner shall include in the notice provided to the covered person and, if applicable, the covered person's authorized representative a statement that the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may submit in writing to the assigned independent review organization within five (5) business days following the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1) additional information that the independent review organization shall consider when conducting the external review. The independent review organization is not required to, but may, accept and consider additional information submitted after five (5) business days.
  - (3) Within one (1) business day after the receipt of the notice of assignment to conduct the external review pursuant to paragraph (1), the assigned independent review organization shall:
    - (a) Select one or more clinical reviewers, as it determines is appropriate, pursuant to paragraph (4) to conduct the external review; and
    - (b) Based on the opinion of the clinical reviewer, or opinions if more than one clinical reviewer has been selected to conduct the external review, make a decision to uphold or reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination.

- (4) (a) In selecting clinical reviewers pursuant to paragraph (3)(a), the assigned independent review organization shall select physicians or other health care professionals who meet the minimum qualifications described in section 13 of this Act and, through clinical experience in the past three (3) years, are experts in the treatment of the covered person's condition and knowledgeable about the recommended or requested health care service or treatment.
  - (b) Neither the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, if applicable, nor the health carrier shall choose or control the choice of the physicians or other health care professionals to be selected to conduct the external review.
- (5) In accordance with subsection H, each clinical reviewer shall provide a written opinion to the assigned independent review organization on whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered.
- (6) In reaching an opinion, clinical reviewers are not bound by any decisions or conclusions reached during the health carrier's utilization review process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Utilization Review and Benefit Determination Model Act] or the health carrier's internal grievance process as set forth in [insert reference to State law equivalent to the Health Carrier Grievance Procedure Model Act].
- E. (1) Within five (5) business days after the date of receipt of the notice provided pursuant to subsection D(1), the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization shall provide to the assigned independent review organization, the documents and any information considered in making the adverse determination or the final adverse determination.
  - (2) Except as provided in paragraph (3), failure by the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1) shall not delay the conduct of the external review.
  - (3) (a) If the health carrier or its designee utilization review organization has failed to provide the documents and information within the time specified in paragraph (1), the assigned independent review organization may terminate the external review and make a decision to reverse the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
    - (b) Immediately upon making the decision under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the independent review organization shall notify the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, if applicable, the health carrier, and the commissioner.
- F. (1) Each clinical reviewer selected pursuant to subsection D shall review all of the information and documents received pursuant to subsection E and any other information submitted in writing by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(2).

- (2) Upon receipt of any information submitted by the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative pursuant to subsection D(2), within one (1) business day after the receipt of the information, the assigned independent review organization shall forward the information to the health carrier.
- G. (1) Upon receipt of the information required to be forwarded pursuant to subsection F(2), the health carrier may reconsider its adverse determination or final adverse determination that is the subject of the external review.
  - (2) Reconsideration by the health carrier of its adverse determination or final adverse determination pursuant to paragraph (1) shall not delay or terminate the external review.
  - (3) The external review may terminated only if the health carrier decides, upon completion of its reconsideration, to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination and provide coverage or payment for the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.
  - (4) (a) Immediately upon making the decision to reverse its adverse determination or final adverse determination, as provided in paragraph (3), the health carrier shall notify the covered person, the covered person's authorized representative if applicable, the assigned independent review organization, and the commissioner in writing of its decision.
    - (b) The assigned independent review organization shall terminate the external review upon receipt of the notice from the health carrier sent pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this paragraph.
- H. (1) Except as provided in paragraph (3), within twenty (20) days after being selected in accordance with subsection D to conduct the external review, each clinical reviewer shall provide an opinion to the assigned independent review organization pursuant to subsection I on whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered.
  - (2) Except for an opinion provided pursuant to paragraph (3), each clinical reviewer's opinion shall be in writing and include the following information:
    - (a) A description of the covered person's medical condition;
    - (b) A description of the indicators relevant to determining whether there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is more likely than not to be beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care services or treatments and the adverse risks of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment would not be substantially increased over those of available standard health care services or treatments;

- (c) A description and analysis of any medical or scientific evidence, as that term is defined in section 3DD of this Act, considered in reaching the opinion;
- (d) A description and analysis of any evidence-based standard, as that term is defined in section 3S of this Act; and
- (e) Information on whether the reviewer's rationale for the opinion is based on subsection I(5)(a) or (b).
- (3) (a) For an expedited external review, each clinical reviewer shall provide an opinion orally or in writing to the assigned independent review organization as expeditiously as the covered person's medical condition or circumstances requires, but in no event more than five (5) calendar days after being selected in accordance with subsection D.
  - (b) If the opinion provided pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this paragraph was not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours following the date the opinion was provided, the clinical reviewer shall provide written confirmation of the opinion to the assigned independent review organization and include the information required under paragraph (2).
- In addition to the documents and information provided pursuant to subsection A(2) or subsection E, each clinical reviewer selected pursuant to subsection D, to the extent the information or documents are available and the reviewer considers appropriate, shall consider the following in reaching an opinion pursuant to subsection H:
  - (1) The covered person's pertinent medical records;
  - (2) The attending physician or health care professional's recommendation;
  - (3) Consulting reports from appropriate health care professionals and other documents submitted by the health carrier, covered person, the covered person's authorized representative, or the covered person's treating physician or health care professional;
  - (4) The terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier to ensure that, but for the health carrier's determination that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that is the subject of the opinion is experimental or investigational, the reviewer's opinion is not contrary to the terms of coverage under the covered person's health benefit plan with the health carrier; and

## (5) Whether:

- (a) The recommended or requested health care service or treatment has been approved by the federal Food and Drug Administration, if applicable, for the condition; or
- (b) Medical or scientific evidence or evidence-based standards demonstrate that the expected benefits of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment is more likely than not to be beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care service or treatment and the adverse risks of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment would not be substantially increased over those of available standard health care services or treatments.
- J. (1) (a) Except as provided in subparagraph (b) of this paragraph, within twenty (20) days after the date it receives the opinion of each clinical reviewer pursuant to subsection I, the assigned independent review organization, in accordance with paragraph (2), shall make a decision and provide written notice of the decision to:
  - (i) The covered person;
  - (ii) If applicable, the covered person's authorized representative;
  - (iii) The health carrier; and
  - (iv) The commissioner.
  - (b) (i) For an expedited external review, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date it receives the opinion of each clinical reviewer pursuant to subsection I, the assigned independent review organization, in accordance with paragraph (2), shall make a decision and provide notice of the decision orally or in writing to the persons listed in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph.
    - (ii) If the notice provided under item (i) was not in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours after the date of providing that notice, the assigned independent review organization shall provide written confirmation of the decision to the persons listed in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph and include the information set forth in paragraph (3).
  - (2) (a) If a majority of the clinical reviewers recommend that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered, the independent review organization shall make a decision to reverse the health carrier's adverse determination or final adverse determination.
    - (b) If a majority of the clinical reviewers recommend that the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should

not be covered, the independent review organization shall make a decision to uphold the health carrier's adverse determination or final adverse determination.

- (c) (i) If the clinical reviewers are evenly split as to whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered, the independent review organization shall obtain the opinion of an additional clinical reviewer in order for the independent review organization to make a decision based on the opinions of a majority of the clinical reviewers pursuant to subparagraph (a) or (b) of this paragraph.
  - (ii) The additional clinical reviewer selected under item (i) shall use the same information to reach an opinion as the clinical reviewers who have already submitted their opinions pursuant to subsection I.
  - (iii) The selection of the additional clinical reviewer under this subparagraph shall not extend the time within which the assigned independent review organization is required to make a decision based on the opinions of the clinical reviewers selected under subsection D pursuant to paragraph (1).
- (3) The independent review organization shall include in the notice provided pursuant to paragraph (1):
  - (a) A general description of the reason for the request for external review;
  - (b) The written opinion of each clinical reviewer, including the recommendation of each clinical reviewer as to whether the recommended or requested health care service or treatment should be covered and the rationale for the reviewer's recommendation;
  - (c) The date the independent review organization was assigned by the commissioner to conduct the external review;
  - (d) The date the external review was conducted;
  - (e) The date of its decision:
  - (f) The principal reason or reasons for its decision; and
  - (g) The rationale for its decision.
- (4) Upon receipt of a notice of a decision pursuant to paragraph (1) reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination, the health carrier immediately shall approve coverage of the recommended or requested health care service or treatment that was the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination.

L. The assignment by the commissioner of an approved independent review organization to conduct an external review in accordance with this section shall be done on a random basis among those approved independent review organizations qualified to conduct the particular external review based on the nature of the health care service that is the subject of the adverse determination or final adverse determination and other circumstances, including conflict of interest concerns pursuant to section 13D of this Act.

## Section 11. Binding Nature of External Review Decision

- A. An external review decision is binding on the health carrier except to the extent the health carrier has other remedies available under applicable State law.
- B. An external review decision is binding on the covered person except to the extent the covered person has other remedies available under applicable federal or State law.
- C. A covered person or the covered person's authorized representative may not file a subsequent request for external review involving the same adverse determination or final adverse determination for which the covered person has already received an external review decision pursuant to this Act.

## Section 12. Approval of Independent Review Organizations

- A. The commissioner shall approve independent review organizations eligible to be assigned to conduct external reviews under this Act.
- B. In order to be eligible for approval by the commissioner under this section to conduct external reviews under this Act an independent review organization:
  - (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, shall be accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity that the commissioner has determined has independent review organization accreditation standards that are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications for independent review organizations established under section 13 of this Act; and
  - (2) Shall submit an application for approval in accordance with subsection D.
- C. The commissioner shall develop an application form for initially approving and for reapproving independent review organizations to conduct external reviews.
- D. (1) Any independent review organization wishing to be approved to conduct external reviews under this Act shall submit the application form and include with the form all documentation and information necessary for the commissioner to determine if the independent review organization satisfies the minimum qualifications established under section 13 of this Act.
  - (2) (a) Subject to subparagraph (b) of this paragraph, an independent review organization is eligible for approval under this section only if it is accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity that the commissioner has determined has independent review organization accreditation standards that are equivalent to or exceed

- the minimum qualifications for independent review organizations under section 13 of this Act.
- (b) The commissioner may approve independent review organizations that are not accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity if there are no acceptable nationally recognized private accrediting entities providing independent review organization accreditation.
- (3) The commissioner may charge an application fee that independent review organizations shall submit to the commissioner with an application for approval and re-approval.
- E. (1) An approval is effective for two (2) years, unless the commissioner determines before its expiration that the independent review organization is not satisfying the minimum qualifications established under section 13 of this Act.
  - (2) Whenever the commissioner determines that an independent review organization has lost its accreditation or no longer satisfies the minimum requirements established under section 13 of this Act, the commissioner shall terminate the approval of the independent review organization and remove the independent review organization from the list of independent review organizations approved to conduct external reviews under this Act that is maintained by the commissioner pursuant to subsection F.
- F. The commissioner shall maintain and periodically update a list of approved independent review organizations.
- G. The commissioner may promulgate regulations to carry out the provisions of this section.

## Section 13. Minimum Qualifications for Independent Review Organizations

- A. To be approved under section 12 of this Act to conduct external reviews, an independent review organization shall have and maintain written policies and procedures that govern all aspects of both the standard external review process and the expedited external review process set forth in this Act that include, at a minimum:
  - (1) A quality assurance mechanism in place that:
    - (a) Ensures that external reviews are conducted within the specified time frames and required notices are provided in a timely manner;
    - (b) Ensures the selection of qualified and impartial clinical reviewers to conduct external reviews on behalf of the independent review organization and suitable matching of reviewers to specific cases and that the independent review organization employs or contracts with an adequate number of clinical reviewers to meet this objective;

- (c) Ensures the confidentiality of medical and treatment records and clinical review criteria; and
- (d) Ensures that any person employed by or under contract with the independent review organization adheres to the requirements of this Act;
- (2) A toll-free telephone service to receive information on a 24-hour-day, 7-day-a-week basis related to external reviews that is capable of accepting, recording or providing appropriate instruction to incoming telephone callers during other than normal business hours; and
- (3) Agree to maintain and provide to the commissioner the information set out in section 15 of this Act.
- B. All clinical reviewers assigned by an independent review organization to conduct external reviews shall be physicians or other appropriate health care providers who meet the following minimum qualifications:
  - (1) Be an expert in the treatment of the covered person's medical condition that is the subject of the external review;
  - (2) Be knowledgeable about the recommended health care service or treatment through recent or current actual clinical experience treating patients with the same or similar medical condition of the covered person;
  - (3) Hold a non-restricted license in a State of the United States and, for physicians, a current certification by a recognized American medical specialty board in the area or areas appropriate to the subject of the external review; and
  - (4) Have no history of disciplinary actions or sanctions, including loss of staff privileges or participation restrictions, that have been taken or are pending by any hospital, governmental agency or unit, or regulatory body that raise a substantial question as to the clinical reviewer's physical, mental or professional competence or moral character.
- C. In addition to the requirements set forth in subsection A, an independent review organization may not own or control, be a subsidiary of or in any way be owned or controlled by, or exercise control with a health benefit plan, a national, State or local trade association of health benefit plans, or a national, State or local trade association of health care providers.
- D. (1) In addition to the requirements set forth in subsections A, B and C, to be approved pursuant to section 12 of this Act to conduct an external review of a specified case, neither the independent review organization selected to conduct the external review nor any clinical reviewer assigned by the independent organization to conduct the external review may have a material professional, familial or financial conflict of interest with any of the following:

- (a) The health carrier that is the subject of the external review;
- (b) The covered person whose treatment is the subject of the external review or the covered person's authorized representative;
- (c) Any officer, director or management employee of the health carrier that is the subject of the external review;
- (d) The health care provider, the health care provider's medical group or independent practice association recommending the health care service or treatment that is the subject of the external review;
- (e) The facility at which the recommended health care service or treatment would be provided; or
- (f) The developer or manufacturer of the principal drug, device, procedure or other therapy being recommended for the covered person whose treatment is the subject of the external review.
- (2) In determining whether an independent review organization or a clinical reviewer of the independent review organization has a material professional, familial or financial conflict of interest for purposes of paragraph (1), the commissioner shall take into consideration situations where the independent review organization to be assigned to conduct an external review of a specified case or a clinical reviewer to be assigned by the independent review organization to conduct an external review of a specified case may have an apparent professional, familial or financial relationship or connection with a person described in paragraph (1), but that the characteristics of that relationship or connection are such that they are not a material professional, familial or financial conflict of interest that results in the disapproval of the independent review organization or the clinical reviewer from conducting the external review.

Drafting Note: In applying subsection D, States should be aware that conflict of interest questions involving independent review organizations and clinical reviewers might arise in a variety of situations. For example, conflict of interest questions may arise when a health care provider, including a physician or other health care professional, who is a clinical reviewer for an independent review organization or an academic medical center, or other similar medical research center, which is seeking to be an approved independent review organization, has a contract to provide health care services to enrollees of the health carrier that is the subject of an external review or when a health care provider, including a physician or other health care professional, who is a clinical reviewer for an independent review organization, has staff privileges at the facility where the recommended health care service or treatment would be provided if the health carrier's adverse or final adverse determination is reversed. The question for States to consider is whether a relationship or connection with persons involved in an external review is a material conflict of interest such that the objectivity of the independent review organization to be assigned to conduct the external review or any clinical reviewer to be assigned by the independent review organization to conduct the external review may actually be or may perceived to be negatively impacted. Whether the relationship or connection is a material conflict of interest will depend on the characteristics of each State's market. Therefore, States should consider adding provisions to this section that provide additional guidelines or procedures to address this issue given their local market characteristics.

E. (1) An independent review organization that is accredited by a nationally recognized private accrediting entity that has independent review accreditation standards that the commissioner has determined are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications of this section shall be presumed in compliance with this section to be eligible for approval under section 12 of this Act.

- (2) The commissioner shall initially review and periodically review the independent review organization accreditation standards of a nationally recognized private accrediting entity to determine whether the entity's standards are, and continue to be, equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications established under this section. The commissioner may accept a review conducted by the NAIC for the purpose of the determination under this paragraph.
- (3) Upon request, a nationally recognized private accrediting entity shall make its current independent review organization accreditation standards available to the commissioner or the NAIC in order for the commissioner to determine if the entity's standards are equivalent to or exceed the minimum qualifications established under this section. The commissioner may exclude any private accrediting entity that is not reviewed by the NAIC.
- F. An independent review organization shall be unbiased. An independent review organization shall establish and maintain written procedures to ensure that it is unbiased in addition to any other procedures required under this section.

## Section 14. Hold Harmless for Independent Review Organizations

No independent review organization or clinical reviewer working on behalf of an independent review organization or an employee, agent or contractor of an independent review organization shall be liable in damages to any person for any opinions rendered or acts or omissions performed within the scope of the organization's or person's duties under the law during or upon completion of an external review conducted pursuant to this Act, unless the opinion was rendered or act or omission performed in bad faith or involved gross negligence.

#### Section 15. External Review Reporting Requirements

- A. (1) An independent review organization assigned pursuant to section 8, section 9 or section 10 of this Act to conduct an external review shall maintain written records in the aggregate by State and by health carrier on all requests for external review for which it conducted an external review during a calendar year and, upon request, submit a report to the commissioner, as required under paragraph (2).
  - (2) Each independent review organization required to maintain written records on all requests for external review pursuant to paragraph (1) for which it was assigned to conduct an external review shall submit to the commissioner, upon request, a report in the format specified by the commissioner.
  - (3) The report shall include in the aggregate by State, and for each health carrier:
    - (a) The total number of requests for external review;
    - (b) The number of requests for external review resolved and, of those resolved, the number resolved upholding the adverse determination or final adverse determination and the number resolved reversing the adverse determination or final adverse determination;

- (c) The average length of time for resolution;
- (d) A summary of the types of coverages or cases for which an external review was sought, as provided in the format required by the commissioner;
- (e) The number of external reviews pursuant to section 8G of this Act that were terminated as the result of a reconsideration by the health carrier of its adverse determination or final adverse determination after the receipt of additional information from the covered person or the covered person's authorized representative; and
- (f) Any other information the commissioner may request or require.
- (4) The independent review organization shall retain the written records required pursuant to this subsection for at least three (3) years.
- B. (1) Each health carrier shall maintain written records in the aggregate, by State and for each type of health benefit plan offered by the health carrier on all requests for external review that the health carrier receives notice of from the commissioner pursuant to this Act.
  - (2) Each health carrier required to maintain written records on all requests for external review pursuant to paragraph (1) shall submit to the commissioner, upon request, a report in the format specified by the commissioner.

**Drafting Note:** States are encouraged to use the model report format form the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

- (3) The report shall include in the aggregate, by State, and by type of health benefit plan:
  - (a) The total number of requests for external review;
  - (b) From the total number of requests for external review reported under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, the number of requests determined eligible for a full external review; and
  - (c) Any other information the commissioner may request or require.
- (4) The health carrier shall retain the written records required pursuant to this subsection for at least three (3) years.

#### Section 16. Funding of External Review

The health carrier against which a request for a standard external review or an expedited external review is filed shall pay the cost of the independent review organization for conducting the external review.

## Section 17. Disclosure Requirements

- A. (1) Each health carrier shall include a description of the external review procedures in or attached to the policy, certificate, membership booklet, outline of coverage or other evidence of coverage it provides to covered persons.
  - (2) The disclosure required by paragraph (1) shall be in a format prescribed by the commissioner.

**Drafting Note:** States are encouraged to use the model disclosure form the NAIC Regulatory Framework Task Force plans to develop.

- B. The description required under subsection A shall include a statement that informs the covered person of the right of the covered person to file a request for an external review of an adverse determination or final adverse determination with the commissioner. The statement may explain that external review is available when the adverse determination or final adverse determination involves an issue of medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness. The statement shall include the telephone number and address of the commissioner.
- C. In addition to subsection B, the statement shall inform the covered person that, when filing a request for an external review, the covered person will be required to authorize the release of any medical records of the covered person that may be required to be reviewed for the purpose of reaching a decision on the external review.

## Section 18. Severability

If any provision of this Act, or the application of the provision to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, the remainder of the Act, and the application of the provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected.

## Section 19. Effective Date

This Act shall be effective [insert date].

#### Appendix A – Model Notice of Appeal Rights

#### NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS

You have a right to appeal any decision we make that denies payment on your claim or your request for coverage of a health care service or treatment.

You may request more explanation when your claim or request for coverage of a health care service or treatment is denied or the health care service or treatment you received was not fully covered. Contact<sup>1</sup> us when you:

- Do not understand the reason for the denial;
- Do not understand why the health care service or treatment was not fully covered;
- Do not understand why a request for coverage of a health care service or treatment was denied:
- Cannot find the applicable provision in your Benefit Plan Document:
- Want a copy (free of charge) of the guideline, criteria or clinical rationale that we used to make our decision; or
- Disagree with the denial or the amount not covered and you want to appeal.

If your claim was denied due to missing or incomplete information, you or your health care provider may resubmit the claim to us with the necessary information to complete the claim.<sup>1</sup>

Appeals: All appeals for claim denials (or any decision that does not cover expenses you believe should have been covered) must be sent to [insert address of where appeals should be sent to the health carrier] within 180 days of the date you receive our denial.<sup>2</sup> We will provide a full and fair review of your claim by individuals associated with us, but who were not involved in making the initial denial of your claim. You may provide us with additional information that relates to your claim and you may request copies of information that we have that pertains to your claims. We will notify you of our decision in writing within 60 days of receiving your appeal.<sup>3</sup> If you do not receive our decision within 60 days of receiving your appeal<sup>3</sup>, you may be entitled to file a request for external review.<sup>4</sup>

External Review<sup>4</sup>: We have denied your request for the provision of or payment for a health care service or course of treatment. You may have a right to have our decision reviewed by independent health care professionals who have no association with us if our decision involved making a judgment as to the medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness of the health care service or treatment you requested by submitting a request for external review within 4 months after receipt of this notice to the Office of the Insurance Commissioner [insert address and telephone number of the office of the insurance commissioner or other unit in the office that administers the external review program]. For standard external review, a decision will be made within 45 days of receiving your request. If you have a medical condition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See address and telephone number on the enclosed Explanation of Benefits if you have questions about this notice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unless your plan or any applicable state law allows you additional time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Some states and plans allow you more (or less) time to file an appeal and less (or more) time for our decision. See your Benefit Plan Document for your state's appeal process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See your Benefit Plan Document for your state's appeal process and to determine if you're eligible to request an external review in your state (e.g. some state appeal processes require you to complete your insurer's appeal process before filing an external review request unless waived by your insurer; while some states do not have such a requirement).

that would seriously jeopardize your life or health or would jeopardize your ability to regain maximum function if treatment is delayed, you may be entitled to request an **expedited external review** of our denial. If our denial to provide or pay for health care service or course of treatment is based on a determination that the service or treatment is experimental or investigation, you also may be entitled to file a request for external review of our denial. For details, please review your Benefit Plan Document, contact us or contact your state insurance department.<sup>1</sup>

## Appendix B – Model External Review Request Form

This **EXTERNAL REVIEW REQUEST FORM** must be filed with [insert state insurance department] within **FOUR (4) MONTHS** after receipt from your insurer of a denial of payment on a claim or request for coverage of a health care service or treatment.

## EXTERNAL REVIEW REQUEST FORM

APPLICANT NAME Authorized Representative	$\_$ $\Box$ Covered	person/Patient	$\operatorname{Provider}\square$
COVERED PERSON/PATIENT INFORMATION			
Covered Person Name:	Patien	t Name:	
Address:			
_			
Covered Person Phone #: Home ()			
INSURANCE INFORMATION			
Insurer/HMO Name:			
Covered Person Insurance ID#:			
Insurance Claim/Reference #:			
Insurer/HMO Mailing Address:		_	
Insurer Telephone #: ()			
EMPLOYER INFORMATION			
Employer's			
Name:			
Employer's Phone #: ()			

Is the health coverage you have through your employer a self-funded plan? \_\_\_\_\_. If you are not certain please check with your employer. Most self-funded plans are not eligible for external review. However, some self-funded plans may voluntarily provide external review, but may have different procedures. You should check with your employer.

# HEALTH CARE PROVIDER INFORMATION

Treating Physician/Health Care Provider:	
Address:	
Contact Person:	Phone: (
Medical Record #:	
	· ·
*You may also describe in your own words t you are appealing this denial using the attack EXPEDITED REVIEW	the health care service or treatment in dispute and why hed pages below.
If you need a fast decision, you may reque basis. To complete this request, your treating stating that a delay would seriously jeopard	est that your external appeal be handled on an expedited ng health care provider must fill out the attached form lize the life or health of the patient or would jeopardize
the patient's ability to regain maximum func Is this a request for an expedited appeal? SIGNATURE AND RELEASE OF MEDIC	Yes No
consent to the release of medical records.	ust sign and date this external review request form and
provided in this application is true and a insurance company and my health care provi to the independent review organization a understand that the independent review or name] will use this information to make	request an external appeal. I attest that the information accurate to the best of my knowledge. I authorize by iders to release all relevant medical or treatment records and the [insert state insurance department name]. It ganization and the [insert state insurance department a determination on my external appeal and that the table released to anyone else. This release is valid for one
Signature of Covered Person (or legal representation) *(Parent, Guardian, Conservator or Other – 1)	

# APPOINTMENT OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

(Fill o	ut this section	only if s	someone els	e will be represe	nting you in	this appeal.)
-	•	. •	•	=	~ •	eating health care
provider, to	act as your aut	horized re	epresentative	. You may revoke t	his authorizat	tion at any time.
I hereby aut	horize			to pursue n	ny appeal on i	ny behalf.
				·		
	f Covered Perso	, –	•			
*(Parent, Gu	uardian, Conse	rvator or (	Other—Pleas	se Specify)		
Address		of		Authorized		Representative:
Phone #:	Daytime	(	)		Evening	
(	_)	\ <u></u>				

# HEALTH CARE SERVICE OR TREATMENT DECISION IN DISPUTE

DESCRIBE IN YOUR OWN WORDS THE DISAGREEMENT WITH YOUR HEALTH CARRIED INDICATE CLEARLY THE SERVICE(S) BEING DENIED AND THE SPECIFIC DATE(S) BEING DENIED. EXPLAIN WHY YOU DISAGREE. ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSAR AND INCLUDE AVAILABLE PERTINENT MEDICAL RECORDS, ANY INFORMATION YOUR RECEIVED FROM YOUR HEALTH CARRIER CONCERNING THE DENIAL, ANY PERTINENT PEER LITERATURE OR CLINICAL STUDIES, AND ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FROM YOUR PHYSICIAN/HEALTH CARE PROVIDER THAT YOU WANT THE INDEPENDENT REVIEW ORGANIZATION REVIEWER TO CONSIDER.

#### WHAT TO SEND AND WHERE TO SEND IT

PLEASE CHECK BELOW (NOTE: YOUR REQUEST WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED FOR FULL REVIEW UNLESS ALL FOUR (4) ITEMS BELOW ARE INCLUDED\*)

YES, I have included this completed application form signed and dated.
 YES, I have included a photocopy of my insurance identification card or other evidence showing that I am insured by the health insurance company named in this application;
 YES\*\*, I have enclosed the letter from my health carrier or utilization review company that states:

 (a) Their decision is final and that I have exhausted all internal review procedures; or
 (b) They have waived the requirement to exhaust all of the health carrier's internal review procedures.

 \*\*You may make a request for external review without exhausting all internal review procedures under certain circumstances. You should contact the Office of the Insurance Commissioner [insert address and telephone number of the office of the insurance commissioner or other unit in the office that administers the external review program].
 YES, I have included a copy of my certificate of coverage or my insurance policy benefit booklet, which lists the benefits under my health benefit plan.

\*Call the Insurance Department at [insert appropriate telephone number(s)] if you need help in completing this application or if you do not have one or more of the above items and would like information on alternative ways to complete your request for external review.

If you are requesting a standard external review, send all paperwork to: [insert address where paperwork should be mailed].

If you are requesting an expedited external review, call the Insurance Department before sending your paperwork, and you will receive instructions on the quickest way to submit the application and supporting information.

# CERTIFICATION OF TREATING HEALTH CARE PROVIDER FOR EXPEDITED CONSIDERATION OF A PATIENT'S EXTERNAL REVIEW APPEAL

#### NOTE TO THE TREATING HEALTH CARE PROVIDER

Patients can request an external review when a health carrier has denied a health care service or course of treatment on the basis of a utilization review determination that the requested health care service or course of treatment does not meet the health carrier's requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care or effectiveness of the health care service or treatment you requested. The [insert name of state insurance department] oversees external appeals. The standard external review process can take up to 45 days from the date the patient's request for external review is received by our department. Expedited external review is available only if the patient's treating health care provider certifies that adherence to the time frame for the standard external review would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the covered person or would jeopardize the covered person's ability to regain maximum function. An expedited external review must be completed at most within 72 hours. This form is for the purpose of providing the certification necessary to trigger expedited review.

#### GENERAL INFORMATION

Name of Treating Healt	h Care Provider:		
Mailing Address:			
Phone Number: (	)	Fax Number:	
Licensure and Area of C	linical Specialty:		
Name of Patient:			
Patient's	Insurer	Member	ID#

# **CERTIFICATION**

I hereby certify that: I am a treating health care provider for
(hereafter referred to as "the patient"); that adherence to the time frame for conducting a standard external review of the patient's appeal would, in my professional judgment, seriously jeopardize the life or health of the patient or would jeopardize the patient's ability to regain maximum function; and that, for this reason, the patient's appeal of the denial by the patient's health carrier of the requested health care service or course of treatment should be processed on an expedited basis.

# PHYSICIAN CERTIFICATION EXPERIMENTAL/INVESTIGATIONAL DENIALS (To Be Completed by Treating Physician)

	y certify that I am the treating physician for (covered person's name) and
due to investig review	have requested the authorization for a drug, device, procedure or therapy denied for coverage the insurance company's determination that the proposed therapy is experimental and/or gational. I understand that in order for the covered person to obtain the right to an external of this denial, as treating physician I must certify that the covered person's medical condition certain requirements:
In my follow	medical opinion as the Insured's treating physician, I hereby certify to the ing:
(Please	e check all that apply) (NOTE: Requirements #1 - #3 below must all apply for the covered to qualify for an external review).
	The covered person has a terminal medical condition, life threatening condition, or a seriously debilitating condition.
□ 2)	The covered person has a condition that qualifies under one or more of the following: [please indicate which description(s) apply]:
	Standard health care services or treatments have not been effective in improving the covered person's condition;
person;	Standard health care services or treatments are not medically appropriate for the covered or
	There is no available standard health care service or treatment covered by the health carrier that is more beneficial than the requested or recommended health care service or treatment.
□ 3)	The health care service or treatment I have recommended and which has been denied, in my medical opinion, is likely to be more beneficial to the covered person than any available standard health care services or treatments.
□ 4)	The health care service or treatment recommended would be significantly less effective if not promptly initiated.
Explair	1;
the hea	

#### Model Regulation Service—April 2010

Please provide a description of the recommended or requested health	n care service or treatment tha
is the subject of the denial. (Attach additional sheets as necessary)	
Physician's Signature	Date

#### Appendix C - Independent Review Organization External Review Annual Report Form

#### [Insert Name of State Insurance Department]

#### Independent Review Organization External Review Annual Report Form

External Review Ar Summary for 20	nnual						
Due on [insert date]	for previous	calendar y	ear.				
Each independent rev health carrier in the a					-		
1. IRO name:					Filing date	:	
2. IRO license/certification no	):			_			
3. IRO address:							
City, State, ZIP:							
4. IRO Web site:							
5. Name, email a completing this form:	address, phone a	ınd fax nun	nber of the	e person			
6. Name and titl reviews:	e of the person 1	responsible	for regula	atory com	pliance and	d quality of e	xternal
Name:			Title				
7. Total number name] during the	of requests for e	external rev	iew receiv	ved from	[insert stat	e insurance	department
reporting period:							
8. Number of stareviews:	ndard external						
9. Average numb standard reviews:	oer of days IRO	required to	reach a fi	nal decis	ion in		
10. Number of exp	pedited reviews	completed t	to a				
11. Average number expedited reviews:	oer of days IRO	required to	reach a fi	nal decis	ion in		

12. Number of medical necessity reviews decided in favor of the health carrier:
Briefly list procedures denied:
13. Number of medical necessity reviews decided in favor of the covered person:
Briefly list procedures approved:
14. Number of experimental/investigational reviews decided in favor of the health carrier:
Briefly list procedures denied:  15. Number of experimental/investigational reviews decided in favor of the covered person:  Briefly list procedures approved:
16. Number of reviews terminated as the result of a reconsideration by the health carrier:
17. Number of reviews terminated by the covered person:
18. Number of reviews declined due to possible conflict with:
Health carrier Covered Person Health care Provider
Describe possible conflicts(s) of interest:
19. Number of reviews declined due to other reasons not reflected in #18 above:

#### Appendix D – Model Health Carrier External Review Annual Report Form

[Insert Name of State Insurance Department]

	er External Keview Annual Kepor	troim		
External Review Annual Summ	ary			
for 20				
Due on [insert date] for previou	ıs			
calendar year.				
Each health carrier shall submit an	annual report with information in the	e aggregate by State and by type of		
health benefit plan.	•			
•				
1. Health carrier		Filing		
name:		Date:		
		Date.		
2. Health carrier				
address:				
City, State, ZIP:				
City, State, ZII.				
3. Health carrier Web				
site:				
A Nama amail adduses about	d f h f + h l	A		
4. Name, email address, phone and fax number of the person completing				
this form:				
5. Total number of external re	view requests received from [insert sta	ate insurance		
department name during the report				
	kternal review requests provided in Qu	uestion 5, the		
number of requests determined elig	tible for a full external review:			

Chronological Summary of Action (all references are to the <u>Proceedings of the NAIC</u>).

 $2008\ Proc.\ 2^{nd}\ Quarter\ 3-22\ to\ 3-53 (adopted).$ 

2010 Proc. 1st Quarter (adopted Guideline amendments)

#### KEY:

**MODEL ADOPTION:** States that have citations identified in this column adopted the NAIC model in a uniform and substantially similar manner. This requires states to adopt the model in its entirety but does allow for minor variations in style and format. States that have adopted portions of the current NAIC model will be included in this column with an explanatory note.

**RELATED STATE ACTIVITY:** States that have citations identified in this column have **not** adopted the NAIC model in a uniform and substantially similar manner. Examples of Related State Activity include: An older version of the NAIC model, legislation or regulation derived from other sources and Bulletins and Administrative Rulings.

NO ACTION TO DATE: No state activity on the topic as of the date of the most recent update.

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Alabama	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Alaska	NO ACTION TO DATE	
American Samoa	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Arizona	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Arkansas	NO ACTION TO DATE	
California	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Colorado		BULLETIN B-4.20 (2009).
Connecticut	CONN. GEN. STAT. § 38a-478n (2009) (portions of model).	BULLETIN HC-74 (2009).
Delaware	NO ACTION TO DATE	
District of Columbia	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Florida	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Georgia	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Guam	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Hawaii	NO ACTION TO DATE	

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY	
Idaho	IDAHO CODE ANN. §§ 41-5901 to 41-5917 (2009).	BULLETIN 2009-8 (2009).	
Illinois	215 Ill. Comp. Stat. 180/5 to 180/75 (2010).	Memorandum 5-27-2010 (2010).	
Indiana	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Iowa		IOWA CODE §§ 514J.1 to 514J.7 (1999/2010).	
Kansas	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Kentucky		806 Ky. Admin. Regs. 17:290 (2000/2008).	
Louisiana	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Maine	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Maryland	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Massachusetts	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Michigan	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Minnesota	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Mississippi	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Missouri	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Montana	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Nebraska	NO ACTION TO DATE		
Nevada	NO ACTION TO DATE		
New Hampshire	NO ACTION TO DATE		
New Jersey	NO ACTION TO DATE		
New Mexico	NO ACTION TO DATE		
New York	NO ACTION TO DATE		

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
North Carolina		N.C. GEN. STAT. §§ 58-50-75 to 58-50-95 (2002/2009) (portions of model #75); Memorandum 8-28-2009 (2009).
North Dakota		N.D. CENT. CODE § 26.1-36-44 (2005/2009).
Northern Marianas	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Ohio	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Oklahoma	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Oregon	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Pennsylvania	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Puerto Rico	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Rhode Island	NO ACTION TO DATE	
South Carolina	NO ACTION TO DATE	
South Dakota	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Tennessee	TENN. CODE ANN. § 56-2-26 (2010) (portions of model).	
Texas	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Utah	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Vermont	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Virgin Islands	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Virginia		14 VA. ADMIN. CODE § 5-215 (2008).
Washington	NO ACTION TO DATE	
West Virginia	NO ACTION TO DATE	

NAIC MEMBER	MODEL ADOPTION	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Wisconsin	NO ACTION TO DATE	
Wyoming	NO ACTION TO DATE	

This state page does not constitute a formal legal opinion by the NAIC staff on the provisions of state law and should not be relied upon as such. Every effort has been made to provide correct and accurate summaries to assist the reader in targeting useful information. For further details, the laws cited should be consulted. The NAIC attempts to provide current information; however, due to the timing of our publication production, the information provided may not reflect the most up to date status. Therefore, readers should consult state law for additional adoptions and subsequent bill status.